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1 TO THE CLERK OF THE ABOVE ENTITLED COURT, AND TO 

2 PLAINTIFF AND HIS ATTORNEYS OF RECORD: 

3 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Defendant Charter Communications, Inc. 

4 ("Charter"), contemporaneously with the filing of this Notice, hereby removes 

5 Devenan Maharaj v. Charter Communications, Inc., and Does 1 through 50, Case 

6 No. 37-2019-00058788-CU-OE,CTL, an action from the Superior Court in the State 

7 of California for the County of San Diego ("State Court Action"), to the United States 

8 District Court for the Southern District of Calif01nia. Charter removes the State Court 

9 Action under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332 and 1441, on the factual and legal grounds discussed 

10 below. 

11 I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 

12 1. This Court has original jurisdiction over this action under the Class 

13 Action Failness Act of 2005 ("CAF A"), which vests the United States district courts 

14 with original jurisdiction of any civil action: (a) that is a class action with a putative 

15 class of more than a hundred members; (b) in which any member of a class of 

16 plaintiffs is a citizen of a state different from any defendant; and (c) in which the 

17 matter in controversy exceeds the sum or value of $5,000,000, exclusive of interest 

18 and costs. See 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d). CAFA authorizes removal of such actions in 

19 accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 1446. This case meets all of CAF A's requirements for 

20 removal and is timely and properly removed by filing this Notice of Removal. 

21 2. Because the Doe defendants have not yet been served, they need not join 

22 or consent to Charter's Notice of Removal. Salveson v. Western States Banckcard 

23 Ass 'n, 731 F.3d 1426, 1429 (9th Cir. 1984) (named defendants not yet served in state 

24 court action need not join the notice of removal). CAFA permits any defendant to 

25 unilaterally remove the action absent the consent of all defendants if the requirements 

26 of CAFA for removal are met, as they are here. 28 U.S.C. § 1453(b) (CAFA action 

27 may be removed "by any defendant without the consent of all defendants."); see also 

28 United Steel, etal. v. Shell Oil Co., 549 F.3d 1204, 1208-1209 (9th Cir. 2008) (holding 
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1 that 28 U.S.C. § 1453 's language clarifies that a class action may be removed "by any 

2 defendant without the consent of all defendants"); Lowery v. Alabama Power Co., 

3 483 F.3d 1184, 1196 (11th Cir. 2007); (holding that other defendants cannot prevent 

4 or defeat removal of entire action); In re Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, 

5 Inc., 680 F.3d 849, 853 (6th Cir. 2012) (same). 

6 II. VENUE 

7 3. Removal to the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of California 

8 is proper because this district embraces the Superior Court of the County of San 

9 Diego, the place where this action was originally filed. See 28 U.S.C. §§ 1446(a). 

10 III. PLEADINGS, PROCESS, AND ORDERS 

11 4. On or about November 5, 2019, PlaintiffDevanan Maharaj ("Maharaj") 

12 filed the above-captioned action in the Superior Court of the State of California for 

13 the County of San Diego, entitled Devenan Maharaj v. Charter Communications, 

14 Inc.; and Does 1 through 50, and assigned Case No. 37-2019-00058788-CU-OE-CTL 

15 ("Complaint"). 

16 5. The Complaint asserts the following causes of action against Charter: (a) 

17 Failure to Provide Meal Periods; (b) Failure to Provide Rest Periods; ( c) Failure to 

18 Pay Minimum and Regular Wages; (d) Failure to Pay All Overtime Wages; (e) Failure 

19 to Pay Reporting Time Pay; (f) Failure to Provide Accurate Itemized Wage 

20 Statements; (g) Failure to Pay All Wages Due Upon Separation of Employment; and 

21 (h) Violation of Unfair Competition Law (Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200, et seq.). The 

22 allegations in the Complaint are incorporated into this notice by reference without 

23 admitting the truth of any of them. 

24 6. On December 9, 2019, Plaintiff served Charter with a copy of the 

25 Summons and Complaint. Copies of all process, pleadings and orders served upon 

26 Charter are attached hereto as Exhibit A, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1446(a), and 

27 incorporated herein. Declaration of Geoffrey L. Warner ("Warner Deel."), ,r 2. 

28 
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1 7. Charter filed an Answer in San Diego County Superior Court on January 

2 8, 2020. Attached hereto as Exhibit B is a true and correct copy of the Charter's 

3 Answer filed in the San Diego Superior Court. Warner Deel.,~ 3. 

4 8. To Charter's knowledge, no further process, pleadings, or orders related 

5 to this case have been filed in the San Diego Superior Court or served by any party 

6 other than as described above. To Charter's knowledge, no proceedings related hereto 

7 have been heard in the San Diego County Superior Court. 

8 IV. TIMELINESS OF REMOVAL 

9 9. An action may be removed from state court by filing a notice of removal 

10 - with a copy of all process, pleadings, and orders served on the defendant - within 

11 thirty days of defendant receiving the initial pleading. See 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b); 

12 Murphy Bros., Inc. v. Mitchetti Pipe Stringing, Inc., 526 U.S. 344, 354 (1999) (the 

13 thirty-day removal period runs from the service of the summons and complaint). 

14 Because Plaintiff served the Summons and Complaint on Charter's agent for service 

15 of process on December 9, 2019, the thirty-day removal period deadline falls on 

16 Wednesday, January 8, 2020. 

17 10. Accordingly, removal is timely because this Notice of Removal has been 

18 filed within thirty (30) days of Charter's receipt of the initial pleading setting forth 

19 the claim for relief upon which the Action is based. See 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b). As 

20 referenced above, this Notice of Removal also contains all process, pleadings and 

21 orders served on Charter. 

22 V. CAFA JURISDICTION 

23 11. CAF A grants federal district courts original jurisdiction over civil class 

24 action lawsuits filed under federal or state law in which any member of a class of 

25 plaintiffs is a citizen of a state different from any defendant, and where the matter's 

26 amount in controversy exceeds $5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs. See 28 

27 U.S.C. § 1332(d). CAFA authorizes removal of such actions under 28 U.S.C. § 1446. 

28 
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1 This case meets each CAF A requirement for removal, and is timely and properly 

2 removed by filing this Notice. 

3 

4 

A. The Proposed Class Contains At Least 100 Members 

12. Plaintiff seeks to represent a class consisting of all current and former 

5 non-exempt employees of Charter, employed as Maintenance Technicians in the state 

6 of California, during any pay period at any time from November 5, 2015, through to 

7 present (the "Maintenance Technician Class"). (Complaint, ,r 58). Plaintiff also seeks 

8 to represent a subclass comprising all members of the Maintenance Technician Class, 

9 whose employment with Charter ended at any time from November 5, 2016, through 

10 the present (the "Waiting Time Penalties Subclass"). (Complaint, ,r 59). 

11 13. 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(5)(B) sets forth that CAFA does not apply to any 

12 class action where "the number of members of all proposed plaintiff classes in the 

13 aggregate is less than I 00." The threshold requirement is easily met in this case. 

14 14. A review of Charter's records by a human resources employee with 

15 personal knowledge of Chmier's record keeping practices establishes that there was 

16 ( at all times) over I 00 non-exempt1 employees employed as Maintenance Technicians 

17 in California ("putative class members") between November 5, 2015 (four years 

18 before the filing of the Complaint) and the date of this removal. (Declaration of 

19 Valerie Chandler ("Chandler Deel."), ,r 6). 

20 

21 

B. Charter is Not A Governmental Entity 

15. Under 28 U.S.C. §1332(d)(5)(B), the CAFA does not apply to class 

22 actions where "primary defendants are States, State officials, or other governmental 

23 entities against whom the district court may be foreclosed from ordering relief." 

24 

25 1 The information presented herein is based upon a review of those records reasonably 
available to Chmier at the time of filing this Notice of Removal. Nothing contained 

26 herein shall be deemed a waiver of Charter's right to challenge each and every 
27 putative class members' purported status as a non-exempt employee under California 

law. Nor should any assertion contained herein constitute a binding judicial 
28 admission upon Charter. 
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1 16. Charter is a private business entity, not state, state official, or other 

2 gove1nment entity exempt from the CAF A. (See Chandler Deel., ,I 2). 

3 C. There is Diversity Between At Least One Class Member and One 

4 Defendant 

5 17. CAFA's minimal diversity requirement is satisfied when "any member 

6 ofa class of plaintiffs is a citizen of a State different from any defendant." 28 U.S.C. 

7 §§ 1332(d)(2)(A), 1453(a) (emphasis added); Broadway Grill, Inc. v. Visa Inc., 856 

8 F.3d 1274, 1276 (9th Cir. 2017) (citing 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)(A)). In a class action, 

9 only the citizenship of the named parties is considered for diversity purposes and not 

10 the citizenship of the class members. See Snyder v. Harris, 394 U.S. 332, 339-40 

11 (1969). Additionally, for removal purposes, diversity must exist both when the action 

12 was commenced in state court and at the time of removal. See Strotek Corp. v. Air 

13 Transp. Ass 'n of Am., 300 F.3d 1129, 1131 (9th Cir. 2002). Minimal diversity of 

14 citizenship exists here because Plaintiff and Charter are citizens of different states. 

15 18. For diversity purposes, a person is "citizen" of the state in which he is 

16 domiciled. See Kanter v. Warner-Lambert Co., 265 F.3d 853, 857 (9th Cir. 2001) 

17 (confirming that person's domicile is the place he resides with the intention to 

18 remain). Allegations of residency in a state court complaint can create a rebuttable 

19 presumption of domicile suppo11ing diversity of citizenship. Lew v. Moss, 797 F.2d 

20 747, 751 (9th Cir. 1986); see also State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Dyer, 19 F.3d 

21 514, 519-20 (10th Cir. 1994) ( allegation by party in state court complaint of residency 

22 "created a presumption of continuing residence in [state] and put the burden of coming 

23 forward with contrary evidence on the party seeking to prove otherwise"); Overholt 

24 v. Airista Flow Inc., No. 17cv1337-MMA (AGS), 2018 WL 355231, at *4 (S.D. Cal. 

25 Jan. 10, 2018) (citations omitted). 

26 19. Here, Plaintiff alleges he is a resident of the State of California. 

27 (Complaint, ,r 9.) Further, Plaintiffs personnel records indicate that he resided in the 

28 City of Chula Vista, County of San Diego, during his employment with Charter. (See 
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1 Chandler Deel., ~ 5). Therefore, Charter has established by a preponderance of the 

2 evidence that Plaintiff resides in California, and therefore is a citizen of California. 

3 20. Charter is now, and was when the Complaint was filed, a citizen of a 

4 state other than the State of California within the meaning of28 U.S.C. § 1332(c)(l) 

5 because Charter is now, and was when the Complaint was filed, a corporation 

6 organized under the laws of the State of Delaware with its principal place of business 

7 in the State of Connecticut. (See Chandler Deel.,~~ 2-4). The majority of Charter's 

8 high-level executive and administrative functions are performed in the State of 

9 Connecticut. (See id.) 

10 21. The presence of Doe defendants in this case has no bearing on diversity 

11 with respect to removal. See 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a) ("For purposes of removal under 

12 this chapter, the citizenship of defendants sued under fictitious names shall be 

13 disregarded."); Newcombe v. Adolf Coors Co., 157 F.3d 686, 690-91 (9th Cir. 1998). 

14 22. The named Plaintiff is a citizen of a state different from Defendant, and 

15 diversity exists for purposes of CAFAjurisdiction. See 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d)(2)(A), 

16 1453. 

17 D. The Amount in Controversy Exceeds $5,000,0002 

18 23. This Court has jurisdiction under CAFA, which authorizes the removal 

19 of class actions in which, among the other factors mentioned above, the amount in 

20 controversy for all putative class members exceeds $5,000,000. See 28 U.S.C. § 

21 l332(d). 

22 24. The removal statute requires a defendant seeking to remove a case to 

23 federal court to file a notice "containing a short and plain statement of the grounds for 

24 removal." 28 U.S.C. § 1446(a). In Dart Cherokee Basin Operating Co. v. Owens, 

25 

26 2 The alleged damages calculations contained herein are for purposes of removal only. 
27 Defendant expressly denies that Plaintiff or the putative class is entitled to any relief 

whatsoever, and Defendant expressly reserves the right to challenge Plaintiffs 
28 alleged damages in this case. 
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1 135 S. Ct. 547, 554 (2014) [hereinafter, "Dart"], the Supreme Court recognized that 

2 "as specified in § 1446(a), a defendant's notice of removal need include only a 

3 plausible allegation that the amount in controversy exceeds the jurisdictional 

4 threshold." (Emphasis added). Only if the plaintiff contests or the comi questions 

5 the allegations of the notice of removal is supporting evidence required. See id. at 

6 554. "[T]he defendant's amount-in-controversy allegation should be accepted" just as 

7 a plaintiffs amount-in-controversy allegation is accepted when a plaintiff invokes 

8 federal court jurisdiction. Id. at 553. 

9 25. Charter denies the validity and merit of the entirety of Plaintiffs alleged 

10 claims, the legal theories upon which they are ostensibly based, and the alleged 

11 claims for monetary and other relief that flow therefrom. For purposes of removal 

12 only, however, and without conceding that Plaintiff or the putative class are entitled 

13 to any damages or penalties whatsoever, it is readily apparent that the aggregated 

14 claims of the putative class establishes, by a preponderance of evidence, that the 

15 amount in controversy exceeds the jurisdictional minimum of $5,000,000. To 

16 determine whether the amount in controversy has been satisfied, the Comi must 

17 presume that the Plaintiff will prevail on his claims. Kenneth Rothschild Trust v. 

18 Morgan Stanley Dean Witter, 199 F. Supp. 2d 993, 1001 (C.D. Cal. 2002) (citing 

19 Burns v. Windsor Ins. Co., 31 F. 3d 1092, 1096 (11th Cir. 1994) (stating that the 

20 amount in controversy analysis presumes that "plaintiff prevails on liability."). The 

21 ultimate inquiry is what amount is put "in controversy" by plaintiffs complaint, not 

22 what defendant might actually owe. Rippee v. Boston Market Corp., 408 F. Supp. 

23 2d 982, 986 (S.D. Cal. 2005); accord Ibarra v. Manheim Invs., Inc., 775 F.3d 1193, 

24 1198 n.1 (9th Cir. 2015) ( explaining that even when the court is persuaded the 

25 amount in controversy exceeds $5,000,000, defendants "are still free to challenge the 

26 actual amount of damages in subsequent proceedings and at trial" because they are 

27 only estimating the amount in controversy). 

28 
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1 26. Here, Plaintiff does not allege the amount in controversy in the 

2 Complaint. In the Prayer for Relief, Plaintiff seeks general damages, special 

3 damages, compensatory damages for unpaid straight time and overtime wages, rest 

4 period premiums, meal period premiums, penalties for alleged failure to comply with 

5 itemized wage statements, and waiting time penalties. (Complaint, Prayer for Relief, 

6 pp. 35-37). Plaintiff also seeks attorneys' fees and injunctive relief. (Id.). 

7 2 7. The removal statute requires that a defendant seeking to remove a case 

8 to federal court must file a notice "containing a short and plain statement of the 

9 grounds or removal." 28 U.S.C. § 1446(a). When, as here, the plaintiffs complaint 

10 does not state the amount in controversy, the defendant's notice of removal may do 

11 so. Chaiier's notice of removal must simply include "a plausible allegation that the 

12 amount in controversy exceeds the jurisdictional threshold." Dart, 135 S.Ct at 554 

13 (emphasis added). 

14 28. While Plaintiff does not allege the amount in controversy in the 

15 Complaint, the face of the Complaint clearly demonstrates that the amount in 

16 controversy exceeds $5,000,000. 

17 29. Further, Plaintiff alleges a cause of action for violating the Unfair 

18 Competition Law ("UCL"), Business and Professions Code §§ 17200, et seq. 

19 (Complaint, ,r,r 142-150). Alleging a UCL violation extends the statute of limitations 

20 on Plaintiffs wage and hour claims from three to four years from the date of filing 

21 ofthe Complaint, or back to November 5, 2015. See Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code§ 17208; 

22 Cortez v. Purolator Air Filtration Products Co., 23 Cal. 4th 163, 178-79 (2000) 

23 (four-year statute of limitations for restitution of wages under the UCL). 

24 

25 

a. Failure to Provide Meal Periods 

30. Plaintiff alleges that Charter failed to provide Plaintiff and the putative 

26 class members compliant meal periods and failed to pay the full meal period 

27 premiums due in violation of California Labor Code §§ 226.7, 512, at 1198. 

28 (Complaint, ,r,r 77-90). 
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1 31. Under California Labor Code § 226. 7, employers are to pay employees 

2 one (1) hour of pay at the employee's regular rate of pay for each work day that the 

3 meal period is not provided. The statutory period for Labor Code § 226. 7 penalties 

4 is three years. 

5 32. Plaintiff does not allege that the practice is occasional. Instead, he 

6 alleges that "Defendants have a pattern and practice of not providing Plaintiff and 

7 the Maintenance Technician Class with legally complaint 30-minute off-duty meal 

8 periods during their shifts" such that "the Maintenance Technician Class are unable 

9 to take complaint meal periods as a result of Defendant's policies." (Complaint, ,r,r 
10 78-79). Specifically, Plaintiff further alleges generally that Defendant "did not 

11 provide Plaintiff ... [and] other similarly situated and/or aggrieved employees the 

12 opportunity to take compliant 30-minute, off duty meal periods[,]" without 

13 limitation. (Complaint, ,r 26). Thus, it is reasonable to assume that Plaintiffs 

14 allegations suggest that Charter never provided compliant meal breaks. 

15 33. There were at least 400 non-exempt employees who worked for Charter 

16 during the three years prior to the filing of this Complaint, or since November 5, 

17 2016, and they worked approximately 165 work weeks. (See Chandler Deel., ,r 7). 

18 The weighted average hourly rate for the non-exempt employees during this three 

19 year period exceeded $27.003 per hour. (See Chandler Deel., ,r 7) 

20 34. Because Chaiier's non-exempt employees in California typically 

21 worked 49 out of 52 weeks per year (94.23%) during the putative class period, the 

22 putative class worked approximately 155 work weeks (165 work weeks x 94.23%). 

23 And they typically worked five days per week. (See Chandler Deel., ,r 11 ). 

24 

25 3 The $27.00 per hour average rate of pay was calculated by weighing the most recent 
hourly rates of pay for the non-exempt employees known to Charter at the time of 

26 filing of this Removal. To the extent the rates of pay might have changed at any point 
27 during the statutory period, the differences would not significantly impact the amount 

in controversy Charter has set forth to establish jurisdiction under the Class Action 
28 Fairness Act of 2005 ("CAFA"). 
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1 35. Based on Plaintiffs allegations that Charter's non-exempt employees 

2 were not able to take meal breaks, and thus were allegedly not provided compliant, 

3 unintenupted meal periods five (5) times per week. Even assuming, Plaintiff and the 

4 putative class missed only one meal period per workweek, the amount in controversy 

5 is $1,674,000.00 (155 work weeks x I missed meal periods x $27 per hour x 400 

6 employees). 

7 36. Although Charter vigorously denies Plaintiffs allegations, including the 

8 alleged damages, if Plaintiff were to prevail on his meal period claim with respect to 

9 himself and the putative class members, the amount in controversy with respect to 

10 that claim alone could be $1,675,000.00. 

11 b. Failure to Provide Rest Periods 

12 3 7. Plaintiff makes similar allegations regarding rest breaks. Plaintiff alleges 

13 that Charter failed to authorize and/or permit rest period time based upon the total 

14 hours worked daily at the rate often (10) minute net rest time per four (4) hours or 

15 major fraction thereof, in compliance with California Labor Code § 226.7 and the 

16 applicable section of the IWC Wage Order. (Complaint,~~ 91-101). The statutory 

17 period for Labor Code § 226. 7 penalties is three years. 

18 38. Plaintiff specifically alleges that "Maintenance Technician Class 

19 members are not authorized and permitted [by Charter] to take compliant rest period 

20 because they were regularly required to remain on-duty at all times to complete tasks 

21 or monitor and answer their work phones and respond to calls from supervisors and/or 

22 customers." (Complaint, ~ 96). Plaintiff claims Charter has a "common policy, 

23 pattern, and practice of failing to compensate Plaintiff and the Maintenance 

24 Technician Class with an hour of pay at their regular rate of pay for the times that 

25 Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class were not authorized to take rest 

26 periods of at least IO minutes for each four-hour work period, or major fraction 

27 thereof." (Complaint,~ 99). 

28 
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1 39. Because the penalty for missed rest periods is one hour of wages just like 

2 for meal periods, and because Plaintiff similarly alleges Charter's consistent denial of 

3 rest periods, the amount in controversy is identical to the amount in controversy for 

4 the missed meal period claim. Assuming Plaintiff and the putative class missed only 

5 one rest period per week, the amount in controversy is $1,675,000.00 (155 work 

6 weeks x 1 missed meal periods x $27.00 per hour x 400 employees). 

7 40. Although Charter vigorously denies Plaintiffs allegations, including the 

8 alleged damages, if Plaintiff prevailed on his rest period claim with respect to himself 

9 and the putative class members, the amount in controversy with respect to that claim 

10 alone could be $1,675,000.00. 

11 c. Failure To Pay Minimum and Regular Wages 

12 41. Plaintiff and the putative class seek allegedly unpaid wages under 

13 California Labor Code §§1194, 1197, and 1198. (Complaint, ,r,r 102-111). Plaintiff 

14 alleges that Charter "failed to pay Plaintiff and ... Maintenance Class members at 

15 least minimum wages for all the time spent working and under the control of 

16 Defendants." (Complaint, ,r 107). 

17 42. In particular, Plaintiff alleges "Maintenance Technician Class members 

18 regularly remained on-duty during their 30-minute meal periods and were not 

19 compensated minimum wages for this time." (Complaint, ,r 107). 

20 43. To determine the monetary amount in controversy for Plaintiffs straight 

21 time claim, the total number of hours worked unpaid by Plaintiff and the putative 

22 class is multiplied by their regular rate of pay in effect during the time the straight 

23 time was allegedly worked. 

24 44. As stated above, between November 5, 2015 and the date of this 

25 removal, approximately 400 putative class members worked for Charter in California 

26 for a total of 217 work weeks. (See Chandler Deel., ,r 6). 

27 45. The weighted average hourly rate for those non-exempt employees 

28 between November 5, 2015 and the date of this removal exceeded $27.00 per hour, 
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1 determined by each putative class member's wage rate and days worked. (See 

2 Chandler Deel., ,r 6). 

3 46. Charter's non-exempt employees in California typically worked 49 out 

4 of 52 weeks per year (94.23%). (See Chandler Deel., ,r 10). Accordingly, there were 

5 approximately 204 workweeks (217 x 94.23%) when Charter's non-exempt 

6 employees in California were working. 

7 47. Charter's non-exempt employees in California typically worked five (5) 

8 days per week, and eight hours per day, between November 5, 2015 and the date of 

9 this removal. (See Chandler Deel., ,r 11 ). Accordingly, there were approximately 

10 408,000 work days (204 work weeks x 5 days per work week x 400 employees) 

11 between November 5, 2015 and the date of this removal. 

12 48. Assuming, as Plaintiff alleges, that each putative class member was not 

13 compensated for a thirty-minute meal period each day worked at a rate of $27.00 per 

14 hour, the total Plaintiff seeks for uncompensated straight time for alleged work 

15 through meal periods is $5,508,000 (408,000 work days x $27.00/hourly rate x 0.5 

16 (30 minutes). 

17 49. Additionally Plaintiff separately alleges that and that the "Maintenance 

18 Technician Class members were required to monitor their phones and respond to 

19 phone calls from supervisors and/or customers regarding work-related issues." 

20 (Complaint, ,r 107). Plaintiff alleges that he was not paid for all minimum, regular, 

21 and overtime hours wages owed, due to having to remain on-duty at all times. 

· 22 (Complaint, ,r 35). Plaintiff also alleges Plaintiff and the putative class were not paid 

23 for the time they spent being called into work and beginning to travel to an 

24 assignment, if an assignment was cancelled (Complaint, ,r 3 7), and they were required 

25 to monitor and answer their work phones or radios and respond to calls from 

26 supervisors and/or customers at all times. (Complaint, ,r 27). Thus, Plaintiff alleges 

27 he and the putative class worked "off the clock." 

28 
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1 50. Assuming Plaintiff and the putative class were not compensated for a 

2 total of one hour of off the clock work each work week, the total Plaintiff and the 

3 putative class seek for uncompensated off the clock time, or "time shaving," is 

4 $2,203,200.00 (204 work weeks x $27.00/hour rate x 1 hour). 

5 42. Although Chaiier vigorously denies Plaintiffs allegations, including the 

6 alleged damages, if Plaintiff prevailed on his straight time claim with respect to 

7 himself and the putative class members, the amount in controversy with respect to 

8 that claim alone, based on the two separate allegations described above, could be 

9 $7,711,200. 

10 d. Failure to Pay All Overtime Wages 

11 43. Plaintiff alleges that Plaintiff and the putative class members were not 

12 paid overtime wages for all hours worked over eight (8) hours in a day and when 

13 employees worked over forty (40) hours in a work week. (Complaint, ~1117-123). 

14 44. To determine the monetary amount in controversy for Plaintiffs 

15 overtime claim, the total number of hours worked unpaid by Plaintiff and the 

16 putative class that would have been considered ove11ime hours is multiplied by one 

17 and one-half times their regular rates of pay in effect during the time the overtime 

18 was allegedly worked. Using the same data set forth above, (204 workweeks and an 

19 average hourly rate of $27.00 per hour between November 5, 2015 and the date of 

20 this removal), and assuming only a single hour of overtime for each employee each 

21 week, the total amount in controversy associated with Plaintiffs overtime claim is 

22 $3,304,800 (204 work weeks x 400 employees x 1 overtime hour x $40.50/hour 

23 [$27.00 x 1.5 per hour overtime premium]). 

24 45. Although Charter vigorously denies Plaintiffs allegations, including the 

25 alleged damages, if Plaintiff prevailed on his overtime claim with respect to himself 

26 and the putative class members, the amount in controversy with respect to that claim 

27 alone could be $3,304,800. 

28 e. Failure to Provide Accurate Wage Statements 

14 
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1 46. Plaintiffs alleges that the Charter knowingly and intentionally failed to 

2 comply with itemized employee wage statement requirements under California 

3 Labor Code §§ 226, 246, and 1198. (Complaint, ,r,r130-139). 

4 4 7. Labor Code § 226( e) provides for a statutory penalty for violations of 

5 Labor Code § 226(a)'s wage statement requirements of $50 per employee for the 

6 initial pay period in which a violation occurs and $100 per employee for each 

7 violation in a subsequent pay period, not exceeding an aggregate amount of $4,000 

8 per employee. Cal. Lab. Code § 226(a). The statutory period for Labor Code § 

9 226(e) penalties is one year. Cal. Code Civ. Proc. §340. 

10 48. Presumably, this claim is derivative of Plaintiff other claims and thus, 

11 Plaintiff is alleging that each and every statement was inaccurate. Charter paid its 

12 California non-exempt employees bi-weekly. Thus, if Plaintiff were to prevail on 

13 this claim, the penalty for any employee who worked for the entire period would 

14 necessarily be the full $2550. 

15 49. There were a total of 400 non-exempt employees in California from 

16 November 5, 2018 to the present for the whole period in question. (See Chandler 

17 Deel., ,r 8). Thus, the amount in controversy associated with this claim is at least 

18 $1,020,000 ($2550 x 400 employees). 

19 f. Failure to Timely Pay All Wages Due Upon Separate of 

20 Employment 

21 50. Plaintiff alleges the Charter failed to timely pay him and the putative 

22 class members all wages owed at the time of separation of employment in violation 

23 of California Labor Code§§ 201-203. (Complaint, ,r,r 140-146). 

24 51. Labor Code § § 201-203 provide that if an employer willfully fails to pay 

25 wages owed, then the wages of the employee shall continue as a penalty from the 

26 due date thereof at the same rate until paid for a maximum of thirty (30) days. 

27 

28 

15 
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1 52. Plaintiff claims that Charter failed to pay him and the Waiting Time 

2 Penalty Subclass members all wages owed to them within seventy-two (72) hours of 

3 their leaving Charter's employ. (See generally Complaint, ,r 140-146). 

4 53. The statute of limitations for a wage action is three (3) years. Here, 

5 approximately 60 Waiting Time Penalty Subclass members ceased employment with 

6 Charter within the three-year statute of limitations. (See Chandler Deel., ,r 9). The 

7 weighted average hourly rate for non-exempt employees who ceased employment 

8 with Charter since November 5, 2016 was approximately $32.59/hr.4 And those 

9 employees typically worked at least eight (8) hours per day. (See Chandler Deel., ,I'jf 

10 9,11). 

11 54. This claim appears to be derivative of Plaintiffs other claims. 

12 According, Plaintiff will likely argue that every terminated employee's final pay was 

13 inaccurate and thus, they were not paid all wages due at termination. Accordingly, 

14 the amount in controversy associated with this claim is at least $469,296 (60 

15 employees x 30 days x 8 hours/day x $32.59/hr). 

16 

17 

g. Attorneys' Fees 

55. Finally, Plaintiff seeks reasonable attorneys' fees for his claims which 

18 must also be considered in determining whether the jurisdictional limit is met. (See 

19 generally Complaint, Prayer for Relief). 

20 56. "Where an underlying statute authorizes an award of attorneys' fees, 

21 either with mandatory or discretionary language, such fees may be included in the 

22 amount in controversy." Lowdermilk v. US. Bank National Ass 'n, 479 F.3d 994, 

23 1000 (9th Cir. 2007) (citing Galt GIS v. JSS Scandinavia, 142 F.3d 1150, 1155-56 

24 (9th Cir. 1998)). The attorneys' fees benchmark in the Ninth Circuit is 25%. Paul, 

25 Johnson, Alston & Hunt v. Graulty, 886 F.3d 268, 272 (9th Cir. 1989) ("We note 

26 

27 4 The $32.59 per hour average rate of pay for terminated non-exempt employees was 
again calculated by weighing the most recent hourly rates of pay for the non-exempt 

28 employees known to Charter at the time of filing of this Removal. 

16 
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1 with approval that one court has concluded that the "bench mark" percentage for the 

2 fee award should be 25 percent.") ( citation omitted); Lo v. Oxnard Euro. Motors, 

3 LLC, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 73983 at *9 ("The Ninth Circuit has accepted as a 

4 benchmark for an att01neys' fees award a twenty-five percent of the common fund of 

5 recovery."). 

6 h. Summary of Amount in Controversy 

7 57. Removal of this action is therefore proper as the aggregate value 

8 of Plaintiffs class causes of action for unpaid straight time, unpaid overtime, meal 

9 period premiums, rest periods premiums, wage statement penalties, final wages not 

10 timely paid, and attorneys' fees is well in excess of the CAFA jurisdictional 

11 requirement of $5 million. See 28 U.S.C. § 1332( d)(2): 

12 p-1- • · "ff' c-·1· • · · amtl , · s - _ aim 
13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

Unpaid Meal Period Claim 

Unpaid Rest Period Claim 

Unpaid Time Claim 

Unpaid Overtime Claim 

Wage Statement Claim 

Final Wage Claim 
Attorney's Fees 

21 . TOTAL before Attorneys' Fees 

22 

TOTAL after Attorneys' Fees 

Amqunt in Controversy 

$ $1,675,000.00 

$ $1,675,000.00 

$ $7,711,200 

$ $3.304.800 

$ $1,020,000 

$ $469.296 

$ 3.963.824 

I $ 15,855,296 

+ Injunctive Relief.+ Repoding Time 

$ 19,819,120· 
+ Injunctive Relief+ Reporth1g Time 23 

24 

25 58. Accordingly, although Charter fully denies Plaintiffs claims of 

26 wrongdoing as alleged in his Complaint, the jurisdictional minimum is satisfied for 

27 purposes of determining the amount in controversy, as it readily exceeds the 

28 $5,000,000 threshold required under CAFA. 
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1 IV. FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE, RULE 11 

2 59. This Notice of Removal is signed pursuant to Rule 11 of the Federal 

3 Rules of Civil Procedure and in accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 1446. The statements 

4 and allegations contained herein are true and correct to the best of the knowledge and 

5 belief of the undersigned based upon a review of the material available, including 

6 Exhibit A hereto. 

7 V. CONCLUSION 

8 60. For the reasons set forth above, the Complaint is removable to this Court 

9 under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d). Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b), the Notice ofRemoval 

10 was filed within thirty (30) days of service on any defendant of a paper providing 

11 notice that a basis for removal of this action exists. In accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 

12 1446( d), copies of this Notice of Removal shall be timely served upon Plaintiff, 

13 through his counsel of record, and a copy of this Notice of Removal shall be timely 

14 filed with the Superior Court. 

15 61. Charter has given the undersigned counsel authority to sign and file this 

16 Notice of Removal. 

17 WHEREFORE, Charter respectfully removes this action, currently pending in 

18 the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of San Diego, as Case 

19 Number 37-2019-00058788-CU-OE-CTL, to the United States District Court, 

20 Southern District of California. 

21 

22 DATED: January 8, 2020 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

THOMPSON COBURN LLP 

By: Isl Arthur F. Silbergeld 
ARTHUR F. SILBERGELD 
GEOFFREYL. WARNER 
KEITH R. RASHER 
Attorneys for Defendant 
CHARTER COivfMUNICATIONS, INC. 
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GRAHAMHOLLIS APC 
Graham S.P. Hollis (SBN 120577) 
ghollis@grahamhollis.com 
Vilmarie Cordero (SBN 268860) 
vcordero@grahamhollis.com 
David X. Lin (SBN 312350) 
dlin@grahamhollis.com 
3555 Fifth Avenue, Suite 200 
San Diego, California 92103 
Telephone: 619 .692.0800 
Facsimile: 619 .692.0822 

Attorneys for PlaintiffDevenan Maharaj 
and aggrieved employees 

ELECTRotHCALL V FILED 
Superior Court of California, 

County of San Diego 

11/05/2019 at 04:25:54 PM 
Clerk of the Superior Court 

By Jose Hernandez.Deputy Clerk 

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO 

DEVENAN MAHARAJ, individually and on 
behalf of all similarly situated employees and 
aggrieved of Defendants in the State of 
California, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS, INC.; and 
DOES 1 THROUGH 50, inclusive, 

Defendants. 

Case No.: 37-2019-00058788-CU-OE-CTL 

Unlimited Civil 
Amount Demanded exceeds $25,000.00 

COMPLAINT 

INDIVIDUAL AND CLASS ACTION 
[Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 382] 

1. Failure to Provide Meal Periods; 
2. Failure to Provide Rest Periods; 
3. Failure to Pay Minimum and Regular 

Wages; 
4. Failure to Pay All Overtime Wages; 
5. Failure to Pay Reporting Time Pay; 
6. Failure to Provide Accurate Itemized Wage 

Statements; 
7. Failure to Timely Pay All Wages Due Upon 

Separation of Employment; 
8. Violation of Business & Professions Code 

§ 17200, et seq.; 

REPRESENTATIVE ACTION FOR PAGA 
PENALTIES 

[Labor Code§ 2698, et seq.] 

9. Violation of Labor Code § 2699, et seq.; 

-JURY TRIAL DEMANDED-

INDIVIDUAL, CLASS ACTION, AND PAGA COMPLAINT 
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OM 
oO 

DEVENAN MAHARAJ'S, individually and on behalf of all other similarly situated and/or 

2 aggrieved employees of CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS, INC., and DOES 1 through 50, inclusive, 

3 alleges as follows: 

4 

5 1. 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiff DEVENAN MAHARAJ ("Plaintiff'') brings this individual, putative class action, 

6 and representative action against Defendants CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS, INC., and DOES 1 

7 through 50, inclusive (collectively, "Defendants"), for engaging in a pattern of wage and hour violations 

8 under the California Labor Code and the applicable Industrial Welfare Commission ("IWC") Wage 

9 Orders. 

10 2. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of all non-exempt employees who were employed by 

11 Defendants in the State of California as Maintenance Technicians during the applicable relevant time 

u ~~ 12 period (hereinafter "similarly situated employees"). 
~;5:$ 
r,;.oo ~ 13 3. Plaintiff also brings this representative action on behalf of all non-exempt employees who 
:J~o 
..:l ::> ~ 
~ ~ ~ 14 were employed by Defendants in the State of California during the applicable relevant time period and 
~<r:U 
~ ~ g 15 suffered at least one wage and hour violation alleged herein ("aggrieved employees"). 
,::,::-~ 
c.,~6 16 4. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that Defendants decreased their :gz 

1£) '<I: 
Moo 17 employment-related costs by systematically violating California wage and hour laws and engaging in 

18 unlawful and unfair business practices. 

19 5. Defendants' systematic pattern of Labor Code and IWC Wage Order violations toward 

20 Plaintiff and other similarly situated employees in California include, but are not limited to: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

a. Failure to provide a first off-duty meal period of at least 30-minutes before the 

commencement of the sixth hour of work and a second off-duty meal period of at least 

30-minutes before the commencement of the eleventh hour of work; 

b. Failure to authorize and permit off-duty paid rest periods; 

c. Failure to pay all minimum and regular wages for all hours worked; 

d. Failure to pay all overtime wages; 

e. Failure to pay all reporting time pay; 

f. Failure to maintain accurate records; 

2 
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1 

2 

3 6. 

g. Failure to provide accurate itemized wage statements; and 

h. Failure to timely pay all wages due during and upon separation of employment. 

Plaintiff brings this lawsuit against Defendants seeking damages, restitution, declaratory 

4 judgment, injunctive relief, statutory penalties, and monetary relief on behalf of himself and all other 

5 similarly situated employees of Defendants in California. Plain~iff seeks to recover, inter alia, unpaid 

6 wages, interest, attorney's fees, damages, liquidated damages, statutory penalties, and costs pursuant to 

7 Labor Code§§ 201,202,203,204,210,218.5, 218.6, 221,223,224,225,225.5, 226,226.3, 226.7, 510, 

8 512,558,558.1, 1174, 1174.5, 1194, 1194.2, 1197, 1197.1, 1198,theCaliforniaBusinessandProfessions 

9 Code§ 17200, et seq., and the provisions of the applicable IWC Wage Order. 

10 

11 

12 A. 

7. Plaintiff reserves the right to name additional representatives. 

II. PARTIES 

Plaintiff 

8. Plaintiff is a current employee of Defendants, who, at all relevant times, is employed as a 

14 maintenance technician and worked for Defendants in a non-exempt position in San Diego County. 

9. 

10. 

Plaintiff is a resident of the State of California and currently resides in San Diego County. 

At all relevant times, Plaintiff and, on information and belief, other similarly situated 

17 and/or aggrieved employees of Defendants in California were subject to the same policies, practices, and 

18 procedures governing their employment and their payment of wages and hours worked. 

19 B. 

20 

Defendants 

11. Defendants CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS, INC. is a Delaware corporation with its 

21 principal place of business in St. Louis, Missouri, operating and doing business in the state of California, 

22 including San Diego County, California. 

23 12. Defendants' wrongful conduct, as alleged herein, occurred in the County of San Diego and 

24 in the State of California. 

25 13. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that each Defendant, whether named 

26 or fictitious, is and, at all relevant times, was authorized to do business and did business in the State of 

27 California and was Plaintiff's and other similarly situated employees' "employer" as defined in and 

28 subject to the California Labor Code and the applicable IWC Wage Order. 

3 
INDIVIDUAL, CLASS ACTION, AND PAGA COMPLAINT 

Case 3:20-cv-00064-JLS-AHG   Document 1-2   Filed 01/08/20   PageID.24   Page 4 of 70



1 14. Each of the fictitiously named Defendants participated in the acts alleged in this Complaint. 

2 The true names and capacities of the Defendants named as DOES 1 through 50, inclusive, are presently 

3 unknown to Plaintiff. Plaintiff will amend this Complaint, setting forth the true names and capacities of 

4 the fictitious Defendants, if and when their true names and capacities are ascertained. Plaintiff is informed 

5 and believes, and on that basis alleges, that each of the fictitious Defendants participated in the acts alleged 

6 in this Complaint. 

7 15. Plaintiff and all other similarly situated and/or aggrieved employees are, and at all relevant 

8 times were, non-exempt employees of each Defendants, including DOES 1 through 50, within the 

9 meanings set forth in the California Labor Code and applicable IWC Wage Order. 

10 16. Plaintiff is informed and believes that at all relevant times, each Defendant, whether named 

11 or fictitious, was the agent, employee or other person acting on behalf of every other Defendant, and, in oM 
oO 
N,..... 

u ~~ 12 participating in the acts alleged in this Complaint, acted within the scope of such agency or employment 
i::i..t:..i: 
<i::::>-
r,;_rn ~ 13 and ratified the acts of each other Defendant. 
:3~o 
..:i:::>r.t.. 
~ ~ ~ 14 17. Plaintiff is informed and believes that at all relevant times, each Defendants, whether 
~-:i:u 
< ::r:: o 15 named or fictitious, exercised control over Plaintiff's and other similarly situated and/or aggrieved 
~t;:o 
,::,::-~ 
c.,~O 16 employees' wages, hours and/or working conditions. 

~z 
v;<i: 
Mm 17 18. Plaintiff is further informed and believes that at all relevant times, each Defendant, whether 

18 named or fictitious, acted as the agent for the other Defendan~s, carried out a joint scheme, business plan 

19 or policy, and the acts of each Defendant are legally attributable to the other Defendants. 

20 19. Each Defendant, whether named or fictitious, was the alter ego of each of the other 

21 Defendants at all relevant times herein. 

22 20. A unity of interest and ownership between each Defendant, whether named or fictitious, 

23 exists such that all Defendants acted as a single employer of Plaintiff and all other similarly situated 

24 employees. 

25 

26 21. 

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction to hear this case because Plaintiff is informed 

27 and believes that the monetary damages and restitution sought herein for Defendants' conduct exceeds the 

28 minimum jurisdictional limits of the Superior Court. 

4 
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1 22. Venue is proper in San Diego County pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure §§ 395(a) and 

2 395.5 because Defendants maintain stores and transact substantial business in San Diego County, 

3 Defendants employed Plaintiff and other similarly situated and/or aggrieved employees in San Diego 

4 County, and the unlawful acts alleged herein that arose in San Diego County have a direct effect on 

5 Plaintiff and other similarly situated employees within San Diego County. 

6 

7 23. 

IV. GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

Plaintiff DEVENAN MAHARAJ is a current employee of Defendants who is employed in 

8 a non-exempt position as a maintenance technician at all times during his employment from approximately 

9 November 2000 through the present. 

10 24. Plaintiff was most recently compensated on an hourly basis at a rate of $32.00 per hour, in 

oM 11 addition to non-discretionary quarterly bonuses. At all relevant times, Plaintiff was compensated on an 
oO 

u ~~ 12 hourly basis and is a non-exempt employee. Plaintiff regularly worked more than eight (8) hours a day 
i=i.. ...... -si: < :::i-
rr.i00 ~ 13 and more than forty ( 40) hours per week. 
:3~o 
..:i:::,i:.r.. 
~ ~ ~ 14 25. Defendants denied Plaintiff and, on information and belief, other similarly situated and/or 
~<t:U 
< :i::: o 15 aggrieved employees, certain rights afforded to them under the California Labor Code and the IWC Wage 
~t;:o 
i::,::-~ c.,~a 16 Order. Specifically, Defendants failed to provide Plaintiff and, on information and belief, other similarly :gz 

1£l<t: 
Moo 17 situated and/or aggrieved employees with legally compliant meal and rest periods, failed to provide meal 

18 and rest period premiums, failed to pay all minimum, regular, and overtime wages owed, failed to pay all 

19 reporting time pay, failed to maintain accurate records, failed to issue accurate itemized wage statements, 

20 and failed to timely pay all wages as set forth by law. 

21 26. Defendants did not provide Plaintiff, an on information and belief, other similarly situated 

22 and/or aggrieved employees the opportunity to take compliant 30-minute, off-duty meal periods. Rather, 

23 Defendants required Plaintiff and, on information and belief, other similarly situated and/or aggrieved 

24 employees to work through their meal periods, receive less than thirty (30) minute meal periods, take 

25 interrupted meal periods, or did not allow them to take meal periods before the end of the fifth hour. 

26 27. Plaintiff's and, on information and belief, other similarly situated and/or aggrieved 

27 employees' meal periods were regularly interrupted, on-duty, and/or after the end of the fifth hour of work, 

28 in violation of the applicable Wage Order. For example, Plaintiff and, on information and belief, other 

5 
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1 similarly situated and/or aggrieved employees were required to monitor and answer their work phones or 

2 radios and to respond to calls from supervisors and/or customers at all times. Further, Plaintiffs 

3 supervisors require him to clock back in and complete tasks if he receives a call during his meal period 

4 and they also encourage him to take his meal period towards the end of the workday. 

5 28. The nature of Plaintiffs duties does not prevent him from being relieved of all job duties 

6 for a compliant 30-minute off-duty meal period. 

7 29. Plaintiff and, on information and belief, other similarly situated and/or aggrieved 

8 employees of Defendants have not signed a valid on-duty meal period agreement at any point during their 

9 employment with Defendants, nor have they properly waived any of their meal periods. 

10 30. Defendants had a pattern and practice of not providing Plaintiff and, on information and 

11 belief, other similarly situated and/or aggrieved employees with legally compliant meal periods, even 

12 though Plaintiff and other similarly situated and/or aggrieved employees worked more than six (6) hours 

13 during their workday. 

31. Thus, as a result of Defendants' illegal policies, Plaintiff and, on information and belief, 

15 other similarly situated and/or aggrieved employees were denied the opportunity to take legally compliant 

16 thirty-minute meal periods, in violation of the applicable Wage Order. 

32. For the same reasons, Plaintiff and, on information and belief, other similarly situated 

18 and/or aggrieved employees were also not authorized and permitted to take off-duty, IO-minute rest 

19 periods for every four hours of work, or major fraction thereo£ For example, Plaintiff and, on information 

20 and belief, other similarly situated and/or aggrieved employees are required to monitor their phones or 

21 radios and respond to work calls during their rest breaks. 

22 33. Defendants had a pattern and practice of failing to authorize and permit Plaintiff and, on 

23 information and belief, other similarly situated and/or aggrieved employees to take legally compliant rest 

24 periods of at least ten minutes for every four-hour work period, or major fraction thereof, because 

25 Defendants required them to remain on duty at all times during their ten-minute rest periods. Thus, as a 

26 result of Defendants' illegal policies, Plaintiff and, on information and belief, other similarly situated 

27 and/or aggrieved employees were not authorized or permitted to take legally compliant rest periods, in 

28 violation of the applicable Wage Order. 

6 
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34. Although Plaintiff and, on information and belief, other similarly situated and/or aggrieved 

2 employees did not receive legally compliant meal or rest periods, Defendants did not compensate Plaintiff 

3 and, on information and belief, other similarly situated and/or aggrieved employees an additional hour of 

4 pay at their regular rate of pay for the times that Plaintiff and other similarly situated and/or aggrieved 

5 employees were not authorized or permitted to take a compliant and timely meal or rest period, in violation 

6 of Labor Code§ 226.7. 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

35. Plaintiff and, on information and belief, other similarly situated and/or aggrieved 

employees were not paid all minimum, regular and overtime wages owed for all time suffered or permitted 

to work. For example, Defendants require Plaintiff and, on information and belief, other similarly situated 

and/or aggrieved employees to remain on duty at all times and monitor their phones during their shift, 

including during their meal and rest periods. Despite the fact that these are compensable work hours 

because Plaintiff and, on information and belief, other similarly situated and/or aggrieved employees are 

subject to the control of their employer during this working time, and Defendants are required to 

compensate Plaintiff and other similarly situated and/or aggrieved employees accordingly, Defendants do 

not count all of this time as hours worked and do not provide proper remuneration. 

36. Defendants also fail to pay Plaintiff and, on information and belief, other similarly situated 

and/or aggrieved employees for all of their overtime wages because Defendants fail to include the non­

discretionary bonus pay in the regular rate of pay for purposes of calculating overtime. Thus, Plaintiff and, 

on information and belief, other similarly situated and/or aggrieved employees are not paid all minimum, 

20 regular, and overtime wages for all hours worked. 

21 37. Further, Defendants also failed to pay Plaintiff and, on information and belief, other 

22 similarly situated and/or aggrieved employees reporting time pay and/or for all hours worked and under 

23 the control of Defendants. For example, Defendants would schedule Plaintiff and other similarly situated 

24 and/or aggrieved employees for on-call shifts. While on-call, Plaintiff would receive calls from the 

25 operational center to report to work to complete assignments. On some occasions, when Plaintiff was on 

26 the way to begin working the on-call assignment, Defendants would call and cancel the assignment. If it 

27 had been less than approximately 15 minutes from the original call, Defendants would not pay Plaintiff 

28 and, on information and belief, other similarly situated employees for the time they spent being called into 

7 
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1 work and beginning to travel to the assignment. Therefore, Plaintiff and other similarly situated employees 

2 were working and under the control of the employer but Defendants paid them $0 for their work time. 

3 38. Moreover, on the occasions that Defendants did not compensate Plaintiff and other 

4 similarly situated and/or aggrieved employees for the time spent reporting to work and beginning travel 

5 to the on-call assignment, Defendants would not pay Plaintiff and other similarly situated and/or aggrieved 

6 employees for half the usual or scheduled day's work, but in no event for less than two (2) hours. 

7 39. Additionally, Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff, and on information and belief, other 

8 similarly situation and/or aggrieved employees all regular and overtime wages owed in a timely manner 

9 as required by Labor Code§ 204. For example, Plaintiff was not paid for labor performed in June 2018 

10 until three months later. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

40. As a direct result of Defendants' illegal policies and procedures, Defendants failed to 

maintain accurate records reflecting all of Plaintiffs and other similarly situated and/or aggrieved 

employees' time worked and wages paid, in violation of California law. In addition, the wage statements 

issued by Defendants do not include the correct total regular and overtime hours worked, the correct 

amount of gross and net wages earned, and the correct applicable hourly rates and the corresponding 

number of hours worked at each hourly rate, as required under Labor Code§ 226. 

41. On information and belief, the wage statement omissions and inaccuracies are not a result 

of an isolated and unintentional payroll error due to an inadvertent mistake, but rather a result of knowing 

and intentional omissions by Defendants. In addition, and as a result of these omissions and inaccuracies, 

Plaintiff and, on information and belief, other similarly situated and/or aggrieved employees are not 

promptly and easily able to determine the correct hours worked and/or determine the accurate wages due 

and owing without reference to other documents and information. 

42. As a direct result of the aforementioned Labor Code violations, Defendants have not paid 

Plaintiff and, on information and belief, other similarly situated and/or aggrieved employees all wages 

due and payable during and upon separation of employment, including minimum, regular, and overtime 

wages for all hours worked, and meal and rest period premium wages, as required pursuant to Labor Code 

27 §§ 201,202, and 204. 

28 43. To this date, Defendants have not paid Plaintiff and, on information and belief, other 
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1 similarly situated and/or aggrieved employees all wages owed, including all minimum, regular and 

2 overtime wages, and meal and rest period premium wages. 

3 44. Based on the foregoing violations of the Labor Code and the applicable IWC Wage Order, 

4 Defendants engaged in unfair business practices in California and willingly and knowingly engaged in an 

5 employment pattern and practice that violated Business & Professions Code § 17200 et seq. Plaintiff and, 

6 on information and belief, other similarly situated and/or aggrieved employees suffered damages due to 

7 Defendants' unfair, unlawful and/or fraudulent actions. 

8 

9 

10 45. 

V. THE LABOR CODE PRIVATE ATTORNEYS GENERAL ACT ("PAGA") 

REPRESENTATIVE ACTION DESIGNATION 

Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained m the 

11 paragraphs above, as though fully set forth herein. 

46. The Causes of Action alleged herein are appropriately suited for a Labor Code Private 

13 Attorneys General Act of 2004 ("PAGA") action because: 

47. Pursuant to California Labor Code § 2699(a), any provision of the Labor Code that 

15 provides for a civil penalty to be assessed and collected by the Labor and Workforce Development Agency 

16 ("L WDA") or any of its departments, divisions, commissions, boards, agencies, or employees, for a 

17 violation of the California Labor Code, may, as an alternative, be recovered through a civil action brought 

18 by an aggrieved employee on behalf of himself or herself and all other current or former employees 

19 pursuant to the procedures specified in § 2699; 

20 48. This action involves allegations of violations of provisions of the California Labor Code 

21 that provide or do not provide for a civil penalty to be assessed and collected by the L WDA or any 

22 departments, divisions, commissions, boards, agencies or employees; 

23 49. Plaintiff is an "aggrieved employee" because he was employed by the alleged violators and 

24 had one or more of the alleged violations committed against him; 

25 50. On June 27, 2019, Plaintiff satisfied the procedural requirements of§ 2699.3 by serving 

26 the L WDA electronically and Defendant Charter Communications, Inc., via Certified Mail with his notice 

27 for wage and hour violations and penalties, including the facts and theories to support each violation. A 

28 true and correct copy of Plaintiffs notice and proof of service is attached as Exhibit A. 
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1 51. More than 65 days have passed since Plaintiff served notice via Certified Mail to the 

2 L WDA and his employer. Therefore, Plaintiff satisfied all the administrative requirements to pursue civil 

3 penalties against Defendants pursuant to Labor Code § 2698, et seq. 

4 52. Plaintiff filed this action pursuant to Labor Code § 2699(a) and (f), on behalf of himself 

5 and all other aggrieved employees of Defendants to recover civil penalties, including unpaid wages, which 

6 are to be paid to the affected employees pursuant to Labor Code §§ 558 and 1197.1. 

7 53. Defendants were Plaintiff's employer or person acting on behalf of Plaintiffs employer, 

8 within the meaning of California Labor Code § 558, who violated or caused to be violated, a section of 

9 Part 2, Chapter I of the California Labor Code or any provision regulating hours and days of work in any 

10 order of the Industrial Welfare Commission and, as such, is subject to civil penalties for each underpaid 

11 employee, as set forth in Labor Code§ 558, at all relevant times. 

54. Defendants were Plaintiff's employer or person acting on behalf of Plaintiff's employer 

13 either individually or as an officer, agent, or employee of another person, within the meaning of California 

14 Labor Code § 1197 .1, who paid or caused to be paid to any employee a wage less than the minimum fixed 

15 by California state law, and as such, is subject to civil penalties for each underpaid employee, as well as 

16 liquidated damages pursuant to Labor Code § 1194.2, and any applicable penalties imposed pursuant to 

17 Labor Code§ 203. 

18 55. Plaintiff seeks to recover all applicable civil penalties under PAGA on behalf of himself 

19 and all other aggrieved employees of Defendants in California. 

20 

21 56. 

VI. CLASS ACTION DESIGNATION 

Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in the 

22 paragraphs above, as though fully set forth herein. 

23 57. Plaintiff brings Causes of Action One through Eight as a Class Action pursuant to 

24 California Code of Civil Procedure § 382 on behalf of himself and all current and former employees of 

25 Defendants in California and who worked as non-exempt employees and who were affected by 

26 Defendants' Labor Code, Business and Professions Code, and IWC Wage Order violations, as alleged 

27 herein. 

28 /// 

10 
INDIVIDUAL, CLASS ACTION, AND PAGA COMPLAINT 

Case 3:20-cv-00064-JLS-AHG   Document 1-2   Filed 01/08/20   PageID.31   Page 11 of 70



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

58. 

59. 

60. 

Plaintiff seeks to represent the following Classes, which are defined as: 

The Maintenance Technician Class: 

"All current and former non-exempt employees of Defendants CHARTER 

COMMUNICATIONS, INC. who worked as a Maintenance Technician in 

the State of California during any pay period at any time from November 5, 

2015, through the present." 

Plaintiff also seeks to represent the following Subclass, which is defined as: 

The Waiting Time Penalties Subclass: 

"All members of the Maintenance Technician Class, whose employment 

with Defendants ended at any time from November 5, 2016, through the 

present." 

Reservation of Rights: Pursuant to California Rule of Court 3.765(b), Plaintiff reserves 

13 the right to amend or modify the class definitions with greater specificity, by further division into 

14 subclasses, and/or limitation to particular issues. 

61. Causes of Action One through Eight are appropriately suited for a class action pursuant to 

16 § 382 of the Code of Civil Procedure because the following requirements are met: 

17 A. Numerosity 

18 62. The members of the Class and Subclass are sufficiently numerous to render the joinder of 

19 all their members impracticable. While Plaintiff has not yet determined the precise number of members 

20 of the Class and Subclass, Plaintiff is informed and believes that the Class and Subclass likely consist of 

21 over 25 individuals. Although the exact number is currently unknown to Plaintiff, this information is easily 

22 ascertainable from Defendants' time and payroll records and other personnel records. 

23 B. 

24 

Commonality and Predominance 

63. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all class members and predominate over any 

25 questions affecting only individual members of the Class or Subclass. The common questions oflaw and 

26 fact that predominate include, but are not limited to: 

27 

28 

a. Whether Defendants failed to permit Maintenance Technician Class members to 

take a duty-free, thirty-minute meal period before the commencement of the sixth 
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1 hour of work because Defendants required them to remain on-duty and/or to answer 

2 phone calls and/or their radios at all times during their shifts, including their breaks, 

3 among others; 

4 b. Whether Defendants failed to permit Maintenance Technician Class members to 

5 take off-duty rest periods of at least 10 minutes for every four hours worked, or 

6 major fraction thereof, because Defendants required them to remain on-duty at all 

7 times during their shifts, including their breaks, among others; 

8 c. Whether Defendants have a policy or practice of never paying one additional hour 

9 of pay at the employees' regular rate of compensation to Maintenance Technician 

10 Class members when they were not provided with compliant and timely meal and 

11 rest periods; 
OC""l 
oO 
N,..... 

12 d. Whether Defendants failed to pay one additional hour of pay at the employees' u~~ 
i::i..t:..i: <:::i-

13 regular rate of compensation to Maintenance Technician Class members when they IZll:Zl ~ 
:J~o 
..:l ;:ii::.. oz ...... 14 were not provided with compliant and timely meal and rest periods; =!;:~ 
~<U 

15 ::r:::i::o e. Whether Defendants failed to pay Maintenance Technician Class members at least 
~E-<c.:> !:::~ 
C.,~0 16 minimum wages and/or all regular wages owed for all hours or fractions of an hour :gz 

1£l<t: 
C""ll:Z) 17 worked and under the control of Defendants; 

18 f. Whether Defendants failed to pay Maintenance Technician Class members all 

19 overtime wages for all hours, or fraction of hours, worked and under the control of 

20 Defendants; 

21 g. Whether Defendants failed to properly pay overtime wages at the corresponding 

22 overtime hourly rate because Defendants failed to include all non-discretionary pay 

23 when calculating the regular rate of pay for overtime purposes; 

24 h. Whether Defendants failed to pay Maintenance Technician Class members for the 

25 time spent reporting to work and beginning to travel to the on-call assignment; 

26 I. Whether Defendants failed to properly and accurately record and maintain records 

27 of all hours worked and wages earned by Maintenance Technician Class members; 

28 j. Whether Defendants failed to provide Maintenance Technician Class members 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 C. 

6 

k. 

Typicality 

with accurate itemized wage statements showing, among other things, the number 

of hours worked and the correct amount of gross and net wages earned; and 

Whether Defendants failed to pay Waiting Time Penalties Subclass members all of 

their wages owed within the required time frames upon separation of employment. 

64. Plaintiffs claims are typical of the claims of all class members because Plaintiff and all 

7 class members' claims arise from the same practice, policy, and/or course of conduct of Defendants. 

8 Plaintiff and all class members sustained injuries and damages as a result of Defendants' illegal policies, 

9 practices and/or common course of conduct in violation of California wage and hour laws and/or illegal, 

10 unfair, or fraudulent business practices. 

11 65. Furthermore, Plaintiffs claims under the Labor Code and the applicable IWC Wage Order 

12 are typical of the Class and Subclass because Defendants' failure to comply with the provisions of 

13 California's wage and hour laws entitles Plaintiff and each class member to similar pay, benefits, and 

14 other relief. Accordingly, the legal theories underlying each cause of action are the same and the remedies 

15 sought by Plaintiff and all class members are the same. 

16 D. Adequacy of Representation 

66. Plaintiff has no fundamental conflict of interest with the Class or Subclass he seeks to 

18 represent. Plaintiff will adequately protect the interests of all class members because it is in Plaintiffs best 

19 interest to prosecute the claims alleged herein to obtain full compensation and penalties due to him and 

20 putative class members. 

21 67. Plaintiff retained attorneys who are experienced employment law litigators with significant 

22 wage and hour and class action experience. 

23 E. 

24 

Superiority of Class Action 

68. Plaintiff believes a class action is a superior method of litigation for the fair and efficient 

25 adjudication of this controversy. Individual joinder of all class members is not practicable. Class action 

26 treatment will allow similarly situated employees to litigate their claims in the manner that is most efficient 

27 and economical for the parties and the judicial system. 

28 69. Plaintiff knows of no difficulty that might be encountered in the management of this suit, 
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1 which would preclude maintenance as a class action. 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

VII. CAUSES OF ACTION 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

FAILURE TO PROVIDE MEAL PERIODS 

(Violation of Labor Code§§ 226.7, 512, and 1198 and the "Meal Periods" section of the 

Applicable IWC Wage Order) 

(Alleged by Plaintiff Individually and On Behalf of the Maintenance Technician Class 

Against All Defendants) 

70. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained m the 

10 paragraphs above, as though fully set forth herein. 

11 71. Labor Code § 512(a) provides, in part, that employers, including Defendants, "may not 

u ~~ 12 employ an employee for a work period of more than five hours per day without providing an employee 
~;3~ 
rr.i 00 ~ 13 with a meal period of not less than 30 minutes" and "may not employ an employee for a work period of 
:3~o 
..:l ::> t.I. 

~ ~ ~ 14 more than 10 hours per day without providing the employee with a second meal period of not less than 30 
~<r:U 
<i: ::i::: ~ 15 minutes." 
~t::8 
i::,::'""'~ 
c.,~O 16 72. Labor Code § 226.7 reqmres that employers, including Defendants, provide their :gz 

1£) <i: 
C""l(Z) 17 employees with meal periods as mandated by the applicable Wage Order of the Industrial Welfare 

18 Commission, and prohibits employers from requiring any employee "to work during any meal ... period 

19 mandated by an applicable order of the Industrial Welfare Commission." Labor Code§ 226.7(c) states, 

20 "[i]f an employer fails to provide an employee a meal ... period in accordance with a state law ... the 

21 employer shall pay the employee one additional hour of pay at the employee's regular rate of 

22 compensation for each workday that the meal ... period is not provided." 

23 73. Labor Code § 1198 states that the "maximum hours of work and standard conditions of 

24 labor fixed by the commission shall be the maximum hours of work and the standard conditions of labor 

25 for employees. The employment of any employee for longer hours than those fixed by the order or under 

26 conditions oflabor prohibited by the order is unlawful." 

27 74. The "Meal Periods" section of the applicable IWC Wage Order states, "[n]o employer shall 

28 employ any person for a work period of more than five (5) hours without a meal period of not less than 
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8 
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10 

11 
OC""l 
oO 
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12 N 
U~°' 
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13 IZll:Zl ~ 
:3~o 
..J~t.I. 

14 o~:s 
1:1::::><i: 
~<r:U 

15 ~::co 
~E-<c.:> t.I.~ 

oti:a 16 
!gz 
1£) <i: 
C""ll:Z) 17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

30 minutes, except that when a work period of not more than six (6) hours will complete the day's work 

the meal period may be waived by mutual consent of the employer and the employee." It further states, 

"[ a ]n employer may not employ an employee for a work period of more than ten (10) hours per day without 

providing the employee with a second meal period of not less than 30 minutes, except that if the total 

hours worked is no more than 12 hours, the second meal period may be waived by mutual consent of 

employer and employee only if the first meal period was not waived." 

75. The "Meal Periods" section of the applicable IWC Wage Order also states, "[u]nless the 

employee is relieved of all duty during a 30-minute meal period, the meal period shall be considered an 

'on duty' meal period and counted as time worked. An 'on duty' meal period shall be permitted only when 

the nature of the work prevents an employee from being relieved of all duty and when by written 

agreement between the parties an on-the-job meal period is agreed to. The written agreement shall state 

that the employee may, in writing, revoke the agreement at any time." 

76. The "Meal Periods" section of the applicable IWC Wage Order also states, "[i]f an 

employer fails to provide an employee a meal period in accordance with the applicable provisions of this 

order, the employer shall pay the employee one (1) hour of pay at the employee's regular rate of 

compensation for each workday that the meal period is not provided." 

77. On information and belief, Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class are subject to 

the same policies, practices, and procedures governing the provision and scheduling of meal periods. 

78. On information and belief, Defendants have a pattern and practice of not providing Plaintiff 

and the Maintenance Technician Class with legally compliant 30-minute off-duty meal periods during 

their shifts, even though they worked more than six (6) hours during their workday. 

79. Plaintiff and, on information and belief, the Maintenance Technician Class are unable to 

take compliant meal periods as a result of Defendants' policies alleged herein. For example, Defendants' 

illegal policies required Plaintiff and, on information and belief, the Maintenance Technician Class to 

remain on duty at all times during their meal periods to be available to complete tasks, monitor and answer 

work phones, and respond to calls from supervisors and/or customers. 

80. Plaintiff and, on information and belief, the Maintenance Technician Class are also 

frequently provided with meal periods that are either late and/or on-duty meal periods because supervisors 
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1 require Plaintiff and, on information and belief, the Maintenance Technician Class to clock back in and 

2 complete tasks if they receive calls during their meal periods. 

3 81. Thus, as a result of Defendants' policies, Plaintiff's and Maintenance Technician Class 

4 members' meal periods are regularly on-duty, late and after the end of the fifth hour, or not taken. 

5 82. Plaintiff and, on information and belief, the Maintenance Technician Class members have 

6 not signed a valid on-duty meal period agreement at any point during their employment with Defendant. 

7 83. Plaintiff and, on information and belief, the Maintenance Technician Class typically 

8 worked more than eight (8) hours per shift and more than forty (40) hours per week. 

9 84. Therefore, as a result of Defendants' conduct, including the conduct alleged herein, 

10 Defendants violated Labor Code §§ 226.7, 512, and 1198, as well as the applicable IWC Wage Order 

11 when Defendants failed to provide Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class members a 30-minute, 

12 duty-free meal period before the commencement of their sixth hour of work. 

85. Consequently, pursuant to Labor Code § 226. 7 (b) and the "Meal Periods" section of the 

14 Wage Order, Defendants was required to pay Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class one 

15 additional hour of pay at their regular rate of compensation for each day that Defendants did not provide 

16 Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class with a 30-minute, duty-free meal period before the 

17 commencement of their sixth hour of work. 

18 86. Despite this obligation, Defendants did not pay Plaintiff and, on information and belief, the 

19 Maintenance Technician Class one additional hour of pay at each employee's regular rate of compensation 

20 for each day that Defendants did not provide Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class with a 30-

21 minute, duty-free meal period before the commencement of their sixth hour of work. 

22 87. Instead, on information and belief, Defendants have a common policy and practice of 

23 failing to compensate Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class with an hour of pay at their regular 

24 rate of pay for the times that Defendants did not provide Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class 

25 with a 30-minute, duty-free meal period before the commencement of their sixth hour of work, as required 

26 by Labor Code§ 226.7(b) and the IWC Wage Order. 

27 88. Thus, on information and belief, Defendants intentionally refused to perform their 

28 obligations to provide meal periods and further failed to compensate Plaintiff and the Maintenance 
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Technician Class with all owed meal premium wages as set forth by Labor Code§ 226.7(b) and the IWC 

2 Wage Order. 

3 89. Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class suffered and continue to suffer losses 

4 related to Defendants' failure to pay an additional hour of pay for each day a legally compliant meal period 

5 was not provided and the associated use and enjoyment of compensation due and owing to them as a direct 

6 result of Defendants' Labor Code and IWC Wage Order violations. 

7 90. Plaintiff seeks all available remedies for Defendants' violations, including, but not limited 

8 to, all wages due, monies, and interest to the extent permitted by law. 

9 

10 

11 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief as hereinafter requested. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

FAILURE TO PROVIDE REST PERIODS 

(Violation of Labor Code §§ 226.7 and 1198 and the "Rest Periods" section of the 

Applicable IWC Wage Order) 

(Alleged by Plaintiff Individually and On Behalf of the Maintenance Technician Class 

Against All Defendants) 

91. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained m the 

17 paragraphs above, as though fully set forth herein. 

18 92. Labor Code § 226.7 requires employers, including Defendants, to provide to their 

19 employees, including Plaintiff, paid rest periods as mandated by the IWC Wage Orders. 

20 93. Labor Code § 1198 states that the "maximum hours of work and standard conditions of 

21 labor fixed by the commission shall be the maximum hours of work and the standard conditions of labor 

22 for employees. The employment of any employee for longer hours than those fixed by the order or under 

23 conditions of labor prohibited by the order is unlawful." 

24 94. The "Rest Periods" section of the applicable IWC Wage Order states, "[e]very employer 

25 shall authorize and permit employees to take rest periods, which insofar as practicable shall be in the 

26 middle of each work period. The authorized rest period time shall be based on the total hours worked daily 

27 at the rate of ten (10) minutes net rest time per four ( 4) hours or major fraction thereof." Furthermore, 

28 "[i]f an employer fails to provide an employee a rest period in accordance with the applicable provisions 
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1 of this order, the employer shall pay the employee one (1) hour of pay at the employee's regular rate of 

2 compensation for each workday that the rest period is not provided." 

3 95. On information and belief, Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class are subject to 

4 the same policies, practices, and procedures governing the provision and scheduling of rest periods. 

5 96. Plaintiff and, on information and belief, the Maintenance Technician Class are not 

6 authorized and permitted to take compliant rest periods because they were regularly required to remain 

7 on-duty at all times to complete tasks or monitor and answer their work phones and respond to calls from 

8 supervisors and/or customers. 

9 97. Labor Code § 226. 7( c) states, "[i]f an employer fails to provide an employee a ... rest ... 

10 period in accordance with a state law ... the employer shall pay the employee one additional hour of pay 

11 at the employee's regular rate of compensation for each workday that the .... rest ... period is not 

12 provided." 

98. Even though Plaintiff and, on information and belief, Maintenance Technician Class 

14 members are not authorized and permitted to take off-duty rest periods, Defendants have not paid Plaintiff 

15 and the Maintenance Technician Class appropriate rest period premium wages for each day in which 

16 Defendants did not authorize and permit Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class to take compliant 

17 rest periods, in violation of Labor Code§ 226.7 and the applicable IWC Wage Order. 

18 99. On information and belief, Defendants has a common policy, pattern, and practice of 

19 failing to compensate Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class with an hour of pay at their regular 

20 rate of pay for the times that Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class were not authorized to take 

21 rest periods of at least 10 minutes for each four-hour work period, or major fraction thereof. 

22 100. Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class suffered and continue to suffer losses 

23 related to Defendants' failure to pay an additional hour of pay for each day a rest period was not provided 

24 and the associated use and enjoyment of compensation due and owing to them as a direct result of 

25 Defendants' Labor Code and IWC Wage Order violations. 

26 101. Plaintiff seeks all available remedies for Defendants' violations including, but not limited 

27 to, any and all wages due, monies, and interest, to the extent permitted by law. 

28 WHEREFORE, Pl~futiff prays for relief as hereinafter requested. 
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THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

FAILURE TO PAY MINIMUM AND REGULAR WAGES 

(Violation of Labor Code§§ 1194, 1197, and 1198 and the "Minimum Wages" section of the 

Applicable IWC Wage Order) 

(Alleged by Plaintiff Individually and On Behalf of the Maintenance Technician Class 

Against All Defendants) 

I 02. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained m the 

8 paragraphs above, as though fully set forth herein. 

9 I 03. Labor Code § 1197 provides, "[t]he mm1mum wage for employees fixed by the 

IO commission is the minimum wage to be paid to employees, and the payment of a less wage than the 

11 minimum wage so fixed is unlawful." 

104. The "Minimum Wages" section of the applicable IWC Wage Order provides that an 

13 employer may not pay employees less than the applicable minimum for all hours worked. 

105. The applicable IWC Wage Order defines the term "hours worked" as "the time during 

15 which an employee is subject to the control of an employer, and includes all the time the employee is 

16 suffered or permitted to work, whether or not required to do so." 

106. Furthermore, pursuant to Labor Code § 1198, "[t]he maximum hours of work and the 

18 standard conditions of labor fixed by the commission shall be the maximum hours of work and the 

19 standard conditions of labor for employees. The employment of any employee for longer hours than those 

20 fixed by the order or under conditions of labor prohibited by the order is unlawful." 

21 I 07. Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and, on information and belief, Maintenance Technician 

22 Class members at least minimum wages for all the time spent working and under the control of Defendants. 

23 For example, Plaintiff and, on infonnation and belief, Maintenance Technician Class members regularly 

24 remained on-duty during their 30-minute meal periods and were not compensated minimum wages for 

25 this time. Additionally, Plaintiff and, on information and belief, Maintenance Technician Class members 

26 were required to monitor their phones and respond to phone calls from supervisors and/or customers 

27 regarding work-related issues. 

28 I 08. Labor Code § 1194 provides, in part, that any employee receiving less than the legal 
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1 minimum wage is entitled to recover in a civil action the unpaid balance of the minimum wage, including 

2 interest thereon, reasonable attorney's fees, and costs of suit. 

3 109. Labor Code § 1194.2 allows an employee to recover liquidated damages in an amount 

4 equal to the wages unlawfully unpaid and interest thereon for any action under Labor Code § 1194. 

5 110. Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class suffered and continue to suffer losses 

6 related to the use and enjoyment of compensation due and owing to them as a direct result of Defendants' 

7 unlawful acts and Labor Code violations in an amount to be shown according to proof at trial and within 

8 the jurisdictional limitations of this Court. 

9 111. Plaintiff seeks all available remedies for Defendants' violations including, but not limited 

10 to, any and all wages due, monies, interest, liquidated damages, attorney's fees, and costs to the extent 

11 permitted by law. 

u ~~ 12 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief as hereinafter requested. 
ii. ...... < 
~~ ~ 13 FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
::3 tI.l 0 
..J ::> t.I. 
oZ::s 14 FAILURE TO PAY ALL OVERTIME WAGES 
1:1:::~< 
~<t:U 
~::i::o 15 (Violation of Labor Code§§ 510, 1194, and 1198, and the "Hours and Days of Work" section of the 
-:i:tc.:, 
i::,:: ...... w 
c.,~~ 16 Applicable IWC Wage Order) 

1£l<t: 
C""l("/.) 17 (Alleged by Plaintiff Individually and On Behalf of the Maintenance Technician Class 

18 

19 

Against All Defendants) 

112. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in the 

20 paragraphs above, as though fully set forth herein. 

21 113. Labor Code § 510 provides, "[ a ]ny work in excess of eight hours in one workday and any 

22 work in excess of 40 hours in any one workweek and the first eight hours worked on the seventh day of 

23 work in any one workweek shall be compensated at the rate of no less than one and one-half times the 

24 regular rate of pay for an employee. Any work in excess of 12 hours in one day shall be compensated at 

25 the rate of no less than twice the regular rate of pay for an employee. In addition, any work in excess of 

26 eight hours on any seventh day of a workweek shall be compensated at the rate of no less than twice the 

27 regular rate of pay of an employee." The "Hours and Days of Work" section of the applicable IWC Wage 

28 Order mandate the same requirements. 
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1 114. Labor Code § 1194 provides that any employee receiving less than the legal overtime 

2 compensation applicable to the employee is entitled to recover in a civil action the unpaid balance of the 

3 full amount of this overtime compensation, including interest thereon, reasonable attorney's fees, and 

4 costs of suit. 

5 115. Furthermore, pursuant to Labor Code § 1198, "[t]he maximum hours of work and the 

6 standard conditions of labor fixed by the commission shall be the maximum hours of work and the 

7 standard conditions oflabor for employees. The employment of any employee for longer hours than those 

8 fixed by the order or under conditions of labor prohibited by the order is unlawful." 

9 116. The applicable IWC Wage Order defines the term "hours worked" as "the time during 

10 which an employee is subject to the control of an employer, and includes all the time the employee is 

11 suffered or permitted to work, whether or not required to do so." 

117. Plaintiff and, on information and belief, the Maintenance Technician Class regularly 

13 worked over eight hours per day and 40 hours per week while employed by Defendants. Plaintiff and, on 

14 information and belief, the Maintenance Technician Class did not receive all overtime compensation owed 

15 for all overtime hours worked over eight hours per day and/or 40 hours per week during their employment 

16 with Defendants. 

118. Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and, on information and belief, Maintenance Technician 

18 Class members overtime wages for all hours they worked over eight in a day or forty in a week. For 

19 example, Plaintiff and, on information and belief, Maintenance Technician Class members were not 

20 compensated for their meal periods due to the fact that they were required to remain on duty at all times 

21 during their shift to monitor their personal cell phones and perform managerial tasks, such as performing 

22 voids on the cash register or responding to customer complaints, even though they clocked out for a thirty 

23 (30) minute meal period. 

24 119. Defendants further failed to pay Plaintiff and, on information and belief, the Maintenance 

25 Technician Class overtime wages for all hours worked over eight in a day or forty in a week because 

26 Plaintiff and, on information and belief, the Maintenance Technician Class, regularly received phone call 

27 on their personal cell phones while off the clock from Defendants and other co-workers regarding work-

28 related issues such as scheduling or customer complaints and were not compensated overtime wages for 
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1 this time. 

2 120. Defendants also failed to pay Plaintiff and, on information and belief, the Maintenance 

3 Technician Class overtime wages for regularly performing tasks after clocking out for the end of their 

4 shifts, such as taking the trash to the dumpster. 

5 121. Defendants failed to properly pay Plaintiff and, on information and belief, the Maintenance 

6 Technician Class for all of their overtime hours at the corresponding overtime hourly rate because 

7 Defendants failed to include non-discretionary bonuses in the regular rate of pay for purposes for paying 

8 overtime. 

9 122. Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class suffered and continue to suffer losses 

10 related to the use and enjoyment of compensation due and owing to them as a direct result of Defendants' 

11 unlawful acts and Labor Code violations in an amount to be shown according to proof at trial and within 

12 the jurisdictional limitations of this Court. 

123. Plaintiff seeks all available remedies for Defendants' violations including, but not limited 

14 to any and all wages due, monies, interest, attorney's fees, and costs to the extent permitted by law. 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief as hereinafter requested. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

FAILURE TO PAY REPORTING TIME PAY 

(Violation of Labor Code § 558 and the "Reporting Time Pay" section of the 

Applicable IWC Wage Order) 

(Alleged by Plaintiff Individually and on Behalf of the Maintenance Technician Class 

Against Defendants) 

124. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained m the 

23 paragraphs above, as though fully set forth herein. 

24 125. The "Reporting Time Pay" section of the applicable IWC Wage Order states, "[e]ach 

25 workday an employee is required to report for work and does report, but is not put to work or is furnished 

26 less than half said employee's usual or scheduled day's work, the employee shall be paid for half the usual 

27 scheduled day's work, but in no event for less than two (2) hours nor more than four (4) hours, at the 

28 employee's regular rate of pay, which shall not be less than minimum wage." 
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1 126. Labor Code § 558 provides, "[a]ny employer or other person acting on behalf of an 

2 employer who violates, or causes to violated ... any provision regulating hours and days of work in any 

3 order of the Industrial Welfare Commission shall be subject to the civil penalty ... " 

4 127. As set forth above, Defendants fail to pay Plaintiff and, on information and belief, other 

5 similarly situated employees reporting time pay. 

6 128. As a direct result of Defendants' violations alleged herein, Plaintiff and members of the 

7 Maintenance Technician Class suffered and continue to suffer, substantial losses related to Defendants' 

8 failure to pay reporting time pay, including the use and enjoyment of such monies, lost interest on such 

9 monies and expenses, and attorney's fees and costs in seeking to compel Defendants to fully perform its 

10 obligations under state law, all to their respective damage in amounts according to proof at trial and within 

11 the jurisdictional limitations of this Court. 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

129. Plaintiff seeks to recover all available remedies including, but not limited to damages, 

penalties, attorney's fees, costs, and injunctive relief to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief as hereinafter requested. 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

FAILURE TO PROVIDE ACCURATE ITEMIZED WAGE STATEMENTS 

(Violation of Labor Code§§ 226,246, and 1198 and the "Records" section of the 

Applicable IWC Wage Order) 

(Alleged by Plaintiff Individually and On Behalf of the Maintenance Technician Class 

Against All Defendants) 

21 130. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in the 

22 paragraphs above, as though fully set forth herein. 

23 131. Labor Code § 226(a) requires that employers, including Defendants, furnish their 

24 employees with each wage payment an accurate and itemized writing that shows gross wages earned, total 

25 hours worked, all deductions, net wages earned, the inclusive dates of the period for which the employee 

26 is paid, the name of the employee and the portion of his or her social security number, the name and 

27 address of the legal entity that is the employer, and all applicable hourly rates in effect during the pay 

28 period and the corresponding number of hours worked at each hourly rate by the employee. 
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1 132. Labor Code § 226(e), in part, pennits employees suffering injury to collect the greater of 

2 all actual damages or the amount specified in Labor Code § 226 per violation. 

3 133. Labor Code § 226( e )(2)(B) states, in pertinent part, "an employee is deemed to suffer injury 

4 for purposes of this subdivision if the employer fails to provide accurate and complete infonnation as 

5 required by any one or more of items (1) to (9), inclusive, of subdivision (a) and the employee cannot 

6 promptly and easily detennine from the wage statement alone one or more of the following: (i) The amount 

7 of the gross wages or net wages paid to the employee during the pay period or any of the other infonnation 

8 required to be provided on the itemized wage statement pursuant to items (2) to (4), inclusive, (6), and (9) 

9 of subdivision (a)." 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

134. Labor Code§ 226(h) states, "An employee may also bring an action for injunctive relief to 

ensure compliance with this section, and is entitled to an award of costs and reasonable attorney's fees." 

135. Defendants knowingly and intentionally failed to provide Plaintiff and Maintenance 

Technician Class members an accurate itemized wage statement with each wage payment as required by 

Labor Code§ 226(a). Defendants knowingly and intentionally failed to provide Plaintiff and members of 

the Maintenance Technician Class with each wage payment an accurate wage statement showing, among 

other things, the inclusive dates of the period for which the employee is paid, the total regular and overtime 

hours worked during the pay period, the corresponding gross and net wages earned, all applicable hourly 

rates and the corresponding number of hours worked at each hourly rate. 

136. Defendants' failure to provide accurate wage statements deprived Plaintiff and members 

of the Maintenance Technician Class of the ability to promptly and easily understand and question the 

calculation and rate of pay and hours used to calculate the wages paid by Defendants. Plaintiff and 

members of the Maintenance Technician Class, therefore, had no way to dispute any error in the payment 

or calculation of their wages, all of which resulted in an unjustified economic enrichment to Defendants, 

and Plaintiff and members of the Maintenance Technician Class suffered actual damages as a result. 

137. Defendants' failure to provide accurate itemized wage statements constitutes an injury as 

defined under Labor Code § 226(e)(2)(B). Therefore, Plaintiff and members of the Maintenance 

Technician Class have suffered an injury for purposes of Labor Code § 226 and are entitled to recover the 

greater of all actual damages or the amount specified in § 226 per violation. 
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1 138. Plaintiff and Maintenance Technician Class members suffered and continue to suffer 

2 injuries, losses and actual damages as a direct result of Defendants' Labor Code violations, including lost 

3 interest on such wages, and expenses and attorney's fees in seeking to compel Defendants to fully perform 

4 their obligations, in an amount to be shown according to proof at trial. 

5 139. Plaintiff seeks to recover all available remedies including, but not limited to damages, 

6 penalties, attorney's fees, costs, and injunctive relief to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

7 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief as hereinafter requested. 

8 SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

9 FAILURE TO TIMELY PAY ALL WAGES DUE UPON SEPARATION OF EMPLOYMENT 

10 (Violations of Labor Code §§ 201,202,203) 

11 (Alleged by Plaintiff Individually and On Behalf of the Waiting Time Penalties Subclass 

Against Defendants) 

140. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained m the 

14 paragraphs above, as though fully set forth herein. 

141. Labor Code § 201 requires Defendants to immediately pay any wages, without abatement 

16 or reduction, to any employee who is discharged. Labor Code § 202 requires Defendants to pay any and 

17 all wages due and owing to an employee not having a written contract for a definite period, who quits his 

18 or her employment, within 72 hours of the employee quitting his or her employment, unless the employee 

19 has given 72 hours previous notice of his or her intention to quit, in which case the employee is entitled 

20 to his or her wages at the time of quitting. 

21 142. For violation of Labor Code §§ 201 and 202, Labor Code § 203 causes the unpaid wages 

22 of an employee to continue as a penalty from the due date thereof, at the same rate until paid or until an 

23 action is commenced, but the wages shall not continue for more than 30 days .. 

24 143. As a result of Defendants' conduct during the applicable statutory period, Defendants 

25 willfully failed to pay Plaintiff and, on information and belief, the Waiting Time Penalties Subclass all 

26 wages due and owing to them, including minimum wages, overtime wages, and regular wages for all the 

27 time they were suffered or permitted to work or were engaged in work under Defendants' control, as well 

28 as all meal period premiums and rest period premiums owed within the time required by Labor Code §§ 
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1 201 and 202, as applicable. 

2 144. To date, Plaintiff has not yet received all wages due and payable, including but not limited 

3 to, minimum wages, overtime wages, regular wages, and meal and rest period premium wages owing to 

4 him. On information and belief, members of the Waiting Time Penalties Subclass have not yet received 

5 all minimum wages, overtime wages, regular wages, and meal and rest premium wages due and owing to 

6 them. 

7 145. As a direct result of Defendants' violations alleged herein, Plaintiff and the Waiting Time 

8 Penalties Subclass members suffered and continue to suffer losses related to the use and enjoyment of 

9 wages due and owing to them, all to their respective damage in an amount to be shown according to proof 

10 at trial and within the jurisdictional limitations of this Court. 

11 146. Plaintiff seeks all available remedies for Defendants' violations to the fullest extent 

u~~ 12 permissible. 
~;3::!: 
r,.ioo ~ 13 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief as hereinafter requested. 
::S~o ..Jz~ 
oti:l::i 14 EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION 1:1::><t: ~<r:U 
<i: ~ 6 15 VIOLATION OF BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONS CODE § 17200, ET SEO. ~t;:o - - -
i:,::-ti:l 
c.,~O 16 (Alleged by Plaintiff Individually and on Behalf of the Maintenance Technician Class Against ~z 

V") <i: 
Moo 17 Defendants) 

18 147. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained m the 

19 paragraphs above, as though fully set forth herein. 

20 148. California Business & Professions Code § 17200, et seq., prohibits acts of unfair 

21 competition, which includes any "unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practice ... " 

22 149. Defendants' Labor Code and IWC Wage Order violations alleged herein constitute 

23 "unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practices," which are prohibited by Business and 

24 Professions Code §§ 17200-17208 and include, but are not limited to: (i) failure to provide proper meal 

25 periods and pay Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class premium wages for failure to provide 

26 compliant meal periods; (ii) failure to provide proper rest periods and pay Plaintiff and the Maintenance 

27 Technician Class premium wages for failure to provide compliant rest periods; (iii) failure to pay Plaintiff 

28 and the Maintenance Technician Class all regular, minimum, and overtime wages for all hours suffered 

26 
INDIVIDUAL, CLASS ACTION, AND PAGA COMPLAINT 

Case 3:20-cv-00064-JLS-AHG   Document 1-2   Filed 01/08/20   PageID.47   Page 27 of 70



OM 
oO 
N,.... 

Ut.ll~ 
i::i..t:..i: < ::>-
IZl(I) ~ 
:J Ul 0 
..J~r.t.. 
Ot.ll:J 
1:1:::>< ~<r:U 
<::i:: ~ 
::i::E--<0 
~ J:.L. c::, -Ul 
oi:i..a 

:gz 
1£l<t: 
C"'l(I) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

or pennitted to work and under the control of Defendant; (iv) failure to pay Plaintiff and the Maintenance 

Technician Class for time spent reporting to work under the direction of Defendant; (v) failure to maintain 

accurate records of the hours that Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class worked while employed 

by Defendant; (vi) failure to provide Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class with accurate 

itemized wage statements; and (vii) failure to timely pay Plaintiff and members of the Waiting Time 

Penalties Subclass all wages owed upon separation of their employment with Defendants. 

150. Defendants intentionally avoided paying Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class 

all wages and/or monies, and other financial obligations attached thereto, to create for Defendants an 

artificially lower cost of doing business, and thus, undercut its competitors. 

151. Defendants lowered their costs of doing business by paying Plaintiff and the Maintenance 

Technician Class an amount less than what is required by the California Labor Code and the applicable 

Wage Order of the Industrial Welfare Commission, thereby unfairly forcing Plaintiff and Maintenance 

Technician Class members to perfonn work without fair compensation and benefits. 

152. Defendants held themselves out to Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class as being 

knowledgeable about, and adhering to, the employment laws of California at all times relevant herein. 

Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class relied on and believed in Defendants' representation 

concerning Defendants' adherence to the California laws, all to their detriment. 

153. Defendants' scheme to lower its payroll and operation costs and thus profit, by withholding 

money owed to the class and withholding wages, compensation and benefits, which are all the property 

of Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class, in violation of the California Labor Code and the IWC 

Wage Orders, as alleged herein, constitutes an "unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practice," 

under California Business and Professions Code § 17200, et seq. As a result of Defendants' unfair 

competition, Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class suffered injury in fact by losing money 

24 and/or property. 

25 154. Business and Professions Code § 17204, states, in relevant part, "[a]ctions for relief 

26 pursuant to this chapter shall be prosecuted ... by ... a person who has suffered injury in fact and has lost 

27 money or property as a result of the unfair competition." 

28 155. Defendants acquired money and property owed to Plaintiff and the Maintenance 
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1 Technician Class by means of an unlawful practice that constitutes unfair competition as defined by 

2 Business and Professions Code § 17200, et seq. 

3 156. Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class are persons in interest under Business and 

4 Professions Code § 17203 to whom money and property should be restored. Business and Professions 

5 Code § 17203 states, in relevant part, that "any person may pursue representative claims or relief on behalf 

6 of others only if the claimant meets the standing requirements of Section 17204." 

7 157. Plaintiff is a person who suffered injury in fact and lost money, wages, compensation, and 

8 benefits, as a result of Defendants' unfair competition. Thus, pursuant to Business and Professions Code 

9 §§ 17203 and 17204, Plaintiff may pursue representative claims and relief on behalf of himself and the 

10 putative classes. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

Pursuant to Business and Professions Code § 17203, "[t]he court may make such orders or judgments, as 

may be necessary to restore to any person in interest any money or property, real or personal, which may 

have been acquired by means of such unfair competition." 

158. Defendants reaped unfair benefits and illegal profits at the expense of Plaintiff and the 

Maintenance Technician Class by committing the unlawful acts alleged herein. Thus, Defendants must 

make restitution and/or be subject to other equitable relief pursuant to Business & Professions Code § 

17203, and restore all unpaid wages to Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class. 

159. Plaintiff and the Maintenance Technician Class suffered and continue to suffer loss of 

wages and monies, all in an amount to be shown according to proof at trial and within the jurisdiction of 

20 this Court. 

21 160. Plaintiff seeks all available remedies on behalf of himself and on behalf of the Maintenance 

22 Technician Class, including, but not limited to, restitution of all wages and all monies owed, all in an 

23 amount to be shown according to proof at trial. All such remedies are cumulative of relief available under 

24 other laws, pursuant to Business & Professions Code§ 17205. 

25 

26 Ill 

27 Ill 

28 Ill 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief as hereinafter requested. 
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I 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

REPRESENTATIVE CLAIMS UNDER THE CALIFORNIA LABOR CODE 

PRIVATE ATTORNEYS GENERAL ACT {PAGA) 

(Labor Code section 2698, et seq.) 

(Alleged by Plaintiff on Behalf of the Aggrieved Employees Against All Defendants) 

161. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in the paragraphs 

7 hove, as though fully set forth herein. 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

162. Pursuant to Labor Code section 2699(a), any provision of the Labor Code that provides for 

a civil penalty to be assessed and collected by the L WDA or any of its departments, divisions, 

commissions, boards, agencies or employees for violation of the code may, as an alternative, be recovered 

through a civil action brought by an aggrieved employee on behalf of himself or herself and other current 

or former employees pursuant to the procedures specified in Labor Code section 2699.3. 

163. This cause of action involves allegations of violations of Labor Code §§ 201,202,203,204, 

210,218.5, 218.6, 221,223,224,226,226.3, 226.7, 510,512,558,558.1, 1174, 1174.5, 1194, 1194.2, 

1197, 1197.1, 1198 which, pursuant to Labor Code section 2699.5, provides for a civil penalty to be 

assessed and collected by the L WDA or recovered through a civil action brought by an aggrieved 

employee on behalf of himself or herself and other current or former employees pursuant to the procedures 

18 specified in Labor Code section 2699.3. 

19 164. Defendants employed Plaintiff during the applicable statutory time period and Plaintiff had 

20 one or more of the alleged violations committed against him. Therefore, Plaintiff is an "aggrieved 

21 employee" under PAGA because the alleged violator employed him and he had one or more of the alleged 

22 violations committed against him. As an aggrieved employee, Plaintiff is properly suited to represent the 

23 interest of other current and former aggrieved employees in a PAGA representative action. 

24 165. Plaintiff exhausted his obligation to provide administrative notice and now seeks recovery 

25 of all available civil penalties under Labor Code section 2699(a). 

26 166. For all provisions of the Labor Code for which a civil penalty is not specifically provided, 

27 Labor Code section 2699(f) imposes upon Defendants a penalty of one hundred dollars ($100) for each 

28 
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1 aggrieved employee per pay period for the initial violation and two hundred dollars ($200) for each 

2 aggrieved employee per pay period for each subsequent violation. 

3 167. Defendants vio_lated Labor Code sections 223, 1194, 1197, and 1198 by not paying Plaintiff 

4 and, on information and belief, other aggrieved employees at least minimum and regular wages for all the 

5 time they were suffered or permitted to work, engaged in work and/or under Defendants' control, as 

6 alleged herein. Thus, under Labor Code section 2699(f)(2), Defendants are subject to a civil penalty of 

7 one hundred dollars ($100) for each aggrieved employee per pay period for the initial violation of sections 

8 223, 1194, and 1198, and two hundred dollars ($200) for each aggrieved employee per pay period for each 

9 subsequent violation. 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

168. Defendants violated Labor Code sections 223, 510, 1194, and 1198 by not paying Plaintiff 

and, on information and belief, other aggrieved employees all overtime wages earned for all the time they 

were suffered or permitted to work, engaged in work and/or under Defendants' control, as alleged herein. 

At all relevant times, Plaintiff and, on information and belief, other aggrieved employees were not paid 

all overtime when they worked in excess of eight hours a workday or forty hours in a workweek. Thus, 

under Labor Code section 2699(f)(2), Defendants are subject to a civil penalty of one hundred dollars 

($100) for each aggrieved employee per pay period for the initial violation of sections 223, 1194, and 

1198, and two hundred dollars ($200) for each aggrieved employee per pay period for each subsequent 

18 violation. 

19 169. Under Labor Code section 225.5, Defendants, in addition to, and entirely independent and 

20 apart from, any other penalty, are subject to a civil penalty for unlawfully withholding wages due to 

21 Plaintiff and other aggrieved employees in violation of Labor Code section 223 as follows: (1) for an 

22 initial violation, one hundred dollars ($100.00) for each failure to pay each employee, (2) for each 

23 subsequent violation, or any willful or intentional violation, two hundred dollars ($200.00) for each failure 

24 to pay each employee, plus 25 percent of the amount unlawfully withheld. This amount shall be recovered 

25 on behalf of the Labor Commissioner. 

26 170. Defendants violated Labor Code sections 226.7, 512, and 1198 by failing to provide Plaintiff 

27 and, on information and belief, aggrieved employees lawfully compliant meal periods and by failing to 

28 pay them meal period premium wages for each day a meal period was not provided. Under Labor Code 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

section 2699(f)(2), Defendants are subject to a civil penalty of one hundred dollars ($100) for each 

aggrieved employee per pay period for the initial violation of sections 226. 7 and 1198, and two hundred 

dollars ($200) for each aggrieved employee per pay period for each subsequent violation. 

171. Defendants violated Labor Code sections 226. 7 and 1198 by failing to authorize and permit 

Plaintiff and, on information and belief, aggrieved employees to take duty-free rest periods and by failing 

to pay them rest period premium wages for each day a rest period was not provided. Under Labor Code 

section 2699(f)(2), Defendants are subject to a civil penalty of one hundred dollars ($100) for each 

aggrieved employee per pay period for the initial violation of sections 226. 7 and 1198, and two hundred 

dollars ($200) for each aggrieved employee per pay period for each subsequent violation. 

172. Defendants violated Labor Code sections 201, 202, and 1198 by not paying Plaintiff and, 

on information and belief, aggrieved employees all minimum, regular, and overtime wages owed, and all 

meal and rest premium wages owed by the time set forth by law, as alleged herein. Thus, under Labor 

Code section 2699(f)(2), Defendants are subject to a civil penalty of one hundred dollars ($100) for each 

aggrieved employee per pay period for the initial violation of sections 201, 202, and 1198, and two 

hundred dollars ($200) for each aggrieved employee per pay period for each subsequent violation. 

173. Defendants violated Labor Code sections 204 and 1198 by not paying Plaintiff and, on 

information and belief, aggrieved employees all minimum, regular, and overtime wages owed, and all 

meal and rest premium wages owed by the time set forth by law, as alleged herein. Thus, under Labor 

Code section 2699(f)(2), Defendants are subject to a civil penalty of one hundred dollars ($100) for each 

aggrieved employee per pay period for the initial violation of Labor Code sections 204 and 1198, and two 

hundred dollars ($200) for each aggrieved employee per pay period for each subsequent violation. 

174. Defendants violated section 204 by not paying Plaintiff and, on information and belief, 

aggrieved employees all minimum, regular, and overtime wages owed, and all meal and rest premium 

wages owed by the time set forth by law, as alleged herein. Thus, under Labor Code section 210(a), 

Defendants, in addition to, and entirely independent from any other penalty, is subject to a civil penalty 

of one hundred dollars ($100) for each aggrieved employee per pay period for the initial violation of 

section 204, and two hundred dollars ($200) for each aggrieved employee per pay period for each 
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subsequent violation, plus 25 percent of the amount unlawfully withheld. This amount shall be recovered 

2 on behalf of the Labor Commissioner. 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

175. Defendants violated Labor Code section 221, 223, 224, 225, and 225.5 by unlawfully 

collecting and receiving from part of Plaintiffs and, on information and belief, other aggrieved 

employees' wages. Under Labor Code section 225, the violation of any provision of Sections 221, 222, 

222.5, or 223 is a misdemeanor. Furthermore, Labor Code sections 225.5 provides that in addition to, and 

entirely independent and apart from, any other penalty provided in this article, every person who 

unlawfully withholds wages due to any employee in violation of section 212,216,221,222, or 223 shall 

be subject to civil penalty. For any initial violation, one hundred dollars ($100) for each failure to pay 

each employee. For each subsequent violation, or any willful or intentional violation, two hundred dollars 

($200) for each failure to pay each employee 25 percent of the amount unlawfully withheld. 

176. Defendants violated Labor Code sections 226(a), 1174(d), and 1198 by failing to maintain 

records detailing the start and end times of work shifts and meal periods, and knowingly and intentionally 

failing to maintain and provide Plaintiff and, on information and belief, other aggrieved employees of 

Defendants with wage statements itemizing accurately all information required by section 226(a), as 

alleged herein, including but not limited to, the total hours worked, all regular hours worked, all overtime 

hours worked, the applicable hourly rate per hour worked, and the total wages earned. Thus, under Labor 

Code section 2699(f)(2), Defendants are subject to a civil penalty of one hundred dollars ($100) for each 

aggrieved employee per pay period for the initial violation of sections 226(a) and 1198, and two hundred 

dollars ($200) for each aggrieved employee per pay period for each subsequent violation. 

177. Alternatively, Labor Code section 226.3 provides for a civil penalty in the amount of two 

hundred and fifty ($250) per violation in an initial citation and one thousand dollars ($1,000) for each 

violation in a subsequent citation, for which the employer fails to provide the employee a wage deduction 

statement or fails to keep the records required by section 226(a). 

178. Labor Code section 117 4.5 provides for a civil penalty of five hundred dollars ($500) for 

any person employing labor who willfully fails to maintain accurate and complete records required by 

27 section 1174(d). 

28 /// 
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1 179. Defendants are and were Plaintiffs and aggrieved employees' employer or other person 

2 acting either individually or as an officer, agent, or employee of another person(s ), who pays or causes to 

3 be paid to any employee a wage less than the minimum fixed by an order of the Commission, and, as such, 

4 is subject to civil penalties for each underpaid employee pursuant to Labor Code section 1197 .1. 

5 180. Section 1197.1 imposes upon Defendants for each initial violation of Labor Code section 

6 1197 by paying or causing an employee to be paid less than the minimum wage, a civil penalty of one 

7 hundred dollars ($100) for each underpaid employee for each pay period for which the employee is 

8 underpaid. Furthermore, section 1197 .1 imposes upon Defendants for each subsequent violation a civil 

9 penalty of two hundred and fifty dollars ($250) for each underpaid employee for each pay period for which 

10 the employee was underpaid. 

11 181. Defendants are and were Plaintiffs and other aggrieved employees' employer, or person 

12 acting on their behalf, within the meaning of Labor Code section 558, who violated or caused to be 

13 violated, a section of Part 2, Chapter 1 of the California Labor Code, or any provision regulating hours 

14 and days of work in any IWC Wage Order and, as such, is subject to civil penalties for each underpaid 

15 employee as set forth in section 558. 

182. Pursuant to section 558, Defendants are subject to a civil penalty of fifty dollars ($50) for 

17 an initial violation of Labor Code sections 510 and/or 512, for each aggrieved employee, for each pay 

18 period for which the aggrieved employee was not provided with a timely uninterrupted thirty-minute meal 

19 period and all overtime wages for all hours worked, as alleged herein. Furthermore, Labor Code section 

20 558 imposes upon Defendants for each subsequent violation of Labor Code sections 510 and/or 512 a civil 

21 penalty of one hundred dollars ($100) for each aggrieved employee for each pay period for which the 

22 aggrieved employee was not provided with a timely uninterrupted thirty-minute meal period and all 

23 overtime wages for all hours worked, as alleged herein. 

24 183. Section 558 also imposes upon Defendants for each initial violation of the Hours and Days 

25 of Work section of any IWC Wage Order a civil penalty of fifty dollars ($50) for each aggrieved employee 

26 for each pay period for which the aggrieved employee was not provided with a paid uninterrupted 10-

27 minute rest period, as alleged herein. Furthermore, section 558 imposes upon Defendants for each 

28 subsequent violation of the Hours and Days of Work section of any IWC Wage Order a civil penalty of 
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one hundred dollars ($100) for each aggrieved employee for each pay period for which the aggrieved 

2 employee was not provided with a paid uninterrupted I 0-minute rest period, as alleged herein. As set forth 

3 in Thurman v. Bayshore Transit Management, 203 Cal.App.4th 1112, 1153 (2012), the Hours and Days 

4 of Work section of the Wage Orders also covers failure to provide rest periods and Plaintiff may therefore 

5 recover civil penalties under section 558 for each such violation. 

6 184. Defendants violated Labor Code section 1198 when it failed to comply with the maximum 

7 hours of work and the standard conditions oflabor fixed by the IWC under the "Hours and Days of Work," 

8 the "Minimum Wages," the "Records," the "Meal Periods," and the "Rest Periods" Sections of the 

9 applicable IWC Wage Order, by failing to pay all minimum and overtime wages, failing to provide 

10 compliant meal and rest periods, failing to pay meal and rest period premium wages, and failing to keep 

11 and provide accurate records, as alleged herein. Thus, under Labor Code section 2699(f)(2), Defendants 

u~~ 12 are subject to a civil penalty of one hundred dollars ($100) for each aggrieved employee per pay period 
~;3::!: 
rr.i 00 ~ 13 for the initial violation of Labor Code section 1198 and two hundred dollars ($200) for each aggrieved 
:::5 ~o 
...;izt.r.. 
~ ~ ~ 14 employee per pay period for each subsequent violation of Labor Code section 1198. 
~<r:U 
~::i::o 15 185. Pursuant to Labor Code section 2699, for bringing this action, Plaintiff is additionally 
<t:;c.:> 
i::>::'""'~ 
c.,~O 16 entitled to attorney's fees and costs incurred herein. :gz 

1£l< 
Moo 17 186. Plaintiff seeks to recover civil penalties, but only those civil penalties that are required to 

18 be shared with the L WDA and no individual relief or underpaid wages, on behalf of himself and other 

19 aggrieved employees for Defendants' violations of the Labor Code, including but not limited to 

20 Defendants' violations of Labor Code sections 201,202,203,204,221,223,224,225,225.5, 226,226.7, 

21 510, 1174, 1194, 1197, 1198, and 2802 pursuant to Labor Code section 2698, et seq. The exact amount of 

22 the applicable penalties is in an amount to be shown according to proof at trial and within the jurisdictional 

23 limitations of this Court. 

24 

25 I I I 

26 Ill 

27 Ill 

28 Ill 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief as hereinafter requested. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment against Defendants as follows: 

a. For general damages; 

b. For special damages; 

c. For an award of liquidated damages to the extent permissible by Labor Code § 

1194.2; 

d. For reasonable attorneys' fees, costs of suit, and interest to the extent permitted by 

law, including pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 1021.5, Labor Code §§ 218.5, 

218.6, 226, 248.5, and 1194; 

e. For civil and statutory penalties to the extent permitted by law, including those 

pursuant to the Labor Code and the Orders of the Industrial Welfare Commission; 

f. For restitution as provided by Business and Professions Code§ 17200, et seq.; 

g. For an order requiring Defendants to restore and disgorge all funds to each affected 

person acquired by means of any act or practice declared by this Court to be 

unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent and, therefore, constituting unfair competition under 

Business and Professions Code § 17200, et seq.; 

h. For an award of damages in the amount of unpaid compensation and monies 

including, but not limited to actual damages, unpaid wages, minimum wages, 

regular wages, overtime wages, vacation wages, waiting time penalties and other 

penalties according to proof, including interest thereon, to the extent permissible 

by law; 

1. For an award of an additional hour of pay at the regular rate of compensation for 

each noncompliant meal and rest period, pursuant to Labor Code § 226. 7 and the 

applicable Order of the Industrial Welfare Commission; 

j. For an award of the greater of actual damages or the liquidated damage amounts 

provided by Labor Code § 226( e) for Defendants' failure to provide accurate 

itemized wage statements, pursuant to Labor Code § 226(a); 

k. For injunctive relief as provided by the Labor Code including but not limited to 
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Labor Code §§ 226(h) and 248.5, and Business and Professions Code § 17200, et 

seq. 

For indemnification of all losses incurred as a result of employment with 

Defendants, with interest; 

For pre- and post-judgment interest to the extent permitted by law including, but 

not limited to, Labor Code §§ 218.6 and 1194; 

For an order imposing a constructive trust upon Defendants to compel it to transfer 

wages that have been wrongfully obtained and held by Defendants to- unpaid 

employees; 

For an accounting to determine all money wrongfully obtained and held by 

Defendants; 

For a declaratory judgment that Defendants violated Labor Code §§ 201, 202, 203, 

204,221,223,224,226,226.7, 510,512, 1174, 1194, 1197, and 1198, as well as 

the "Hours and Days of Work," "Minimum Wages," "Records," "Reporting Time 

Pay," "Meal Periods," and "Rest Periods" sections of the Wage Order of the 

Industrial Welfare Commission; 

For civil penalties to the extent permitted by law pursuant to the Labor Code, the 

Private Attorneys General Act, and the Orders of the Industrial Welfare 

Commission; 

For civil penalties for each initial and subsequent violation for each underpaid 

employee for each pay period for which the employee was underpaid pursuant to 

Labor Code sections 225.5, 558, and 1197.1; 

For civil penalties under Labor Code section 1197.1, including but not limited to 

liquidated damages, and any applicable penalties imposed pursuant to section 203, 

recovered pursuant to this section to be paid directly to the aggrieved employees; 

For reasonable attorney's fees and costs of suit to the extent permitted by law, 

including those pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section I 021.5 and Labor Code 

sections 218.5, 218.6, and 2699; and 
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u. An award of such other and further relief as this Court deems proper and just. 

JURY TRIAL DEMAND 

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all Causes of Action to the extent authorized by law. 

Dated: November 5, 2019 GRAHAMHOLLIS APC 

// ;:::{ 
By:------------------

GRAHAM S.P. HOLLIS 
VILMARIE CORDERO 
DAVIDX.LIN 
Attorneys for Plaintiff DEVENAN MAHARAJ and 
Aggrieved Employees 
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Attorneys at Law 

3555 Filth Avenue Suite 200 
San Diego, California 92103 
619.692.0800 voice 
619.692.0822 fax 

www.grahamhollis.com 

Kathryn Evans 
kevans@grahamhollis.com 
619.618.1869 direct 

Graham S.P. Hollis 

Vilmarie Cordero 

Nicole R. Roysden 

Rita Leong 

Nathan Reese 

Hali Anderson 

Kathryn Evans 

Dylan Morales 

Daria V. Cortes 

San Diego 

C: 
Clil 

C 

GRAE·HA~JJDcO@lllLD~ 

June 27, 2019 

VIA ONLINE ELECTRONIC FILING 

California Labor and Workforce Development Agency 
Attn: PAGA Administrator 
1515 Clay Street, Suite 801 
Oakland, CA 94612 

CERTIFIED MAIL (RETURN RECEIPT) 

Charter Communications, Inc. 
12405 Powerscourt Drive 
St. Louis, MO 63131 

Charter Communications, Inc. 
c/o CSC - Lawyers Incorporating Service, Agent for Service of Process 
2710 Gateway Oaks Drive, Suite 150N 
Sacramento, CA 95833 

Re: Devenan Maharaj's Wage and Hour Claims Against 
Charter Communications, Inc. 

Af'C 

Dear Labor and Workforce Development Agency and Charter Communications, Inc.: 

Please be advised that Devenan Maharaj ("Claimant") has retained our firm to 
represent him for claims against his employer Charter Communications, Inc. ("the 
Company"). 

This letter shall serve as Claimant's written notice to the Labor and Workforce 
Development Agency ("L WDA'') and the Company of the alleged Labor Code violations 
Claimant claims that the Company committed against him and all other non-exempt 
employees in California. Claimant provides this notice in accordance with the Labor Code 
Private Attorneys General Act of2004 ("PAGA"), Labor Code section 2699.3. Claimant 
desires to file a civil action to enforce his rights under the Labor Code and seek 
compensation accordingly. 

Pursuant to Labor Code section 2699(a), and by way of this letter, Claimant also 
intends to represent all other current and former non-exempt employees who performed 
work for the Company in California and who have suffered at least one of the wage and 
hour violations described herein during the relevant time period (hereinafter the 
"aggrieved employees"). 

Temecula Orange County Los Angeles Sacramento San Francisco 
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The Company is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in St. Louis, Missouri, 
operating and doing business in the state of California and all across the country. The Company specializes 
in providing residential and business consumers with cable, internet, and phone services. 

The Company has employed Claimant as a maintenance technician in San Diego from 
approximately November 2000 _to the present. Claimant works as a non-exempt employee and is 
compensated on an hourly basis at a rate of $32.00 per hour, in addition to non-discretionary quarterly 
bonuses. Claimant's job duties include troubleshooting and repairing the Company's plant, assisting the 
field operations department, and general maintenance. Claimant typically works five days per week and 
eight hours per day. 

The Company denies Claimant and other aggrieved employees in California specific rights afforded 
to them under the California Labor Code and the IWC Wage Order. Specifically, the Company fails to 
provide them with legally compliant meal and rest periods or pay them all meal and rest period premiums, 
fails to timely pay them all minimum, regular, and overtime wages owed, fails to pay reporting time pay, 
fails to maintain accurate records and issue accurate itemized wage statements, and fails to timely pay all 
wages due during and upon separation of employment. 

The Company does not provide Claimant and, on information and belief, other aggrieved 
employees the opportunity to take compliant 30-minute, off-duty meal periods. Rather, the Company 
requires Claimant and, on information and belief, other aggrieved employees to work through their meal 
periods, receive less than thirty (30) minute meal periods, take interrupted meal periods, or does not allow 
them to take meal periods before the end of the fifth hour. Claimant's and, on information and belief, other 
aggrieved employees' meal periods were regularly interrupted, on-duty, and/or after the end of the fifth 
hour of work. For example, Claimant and, on information and belief, other aggrieved employees are 
required to monitor and answer their work phones and respond to calls from supervisors and/or customers 
at all times. Claimant's supervisors require him to clock back in and complete tasks if he receives a call 
during his meal period and they also encourage him to take his meal period towards the end of the workday. 
The nature of Claimant's duties do not prevent him from being relieved of all job duties for a compliant 30-
minute off-duty meal period and Claimant and, on information and belief, other aggrieved employees have 
not signed a valid on-duty meal agreement at any point during their employment with the Company. 
Although Claimant and, on information and belief, other aggrieved employees do not receive legally 
compliant meal periods, the Company does not pay Claimant and, on information and belief, other 
aggrieved employees the additional one hour of pay at the employee's regular rate of pay as required under 
Labor Code section 226.7 and the applicable IWC Wage Order. As such, the Company owes Claimant and 
other aggrieved employees a meal period premium for each work day that Claimant and other aggrieved 
employees were not provided with a compliant meal period. 

For the same reasons, Claimant and, on information and belief, other aggrieved employees are also 
not authorized and permitted to take off-duty, 10-minute rest periods for every four hours of work, or major 
fraction thereof. Claimant and, on information and belief, other aggrieved employees were required to 
monitor their phones and respond to work calls during their rest breaks. Although Claimant does not receive 
legally compliant rest periods, the Company does not pay Claimant proper rest period premium wages, as 
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required under Labor Code section 226.7 and the applicable IWC Wage Order. On information and belief, 
the Company similarly fails to pay other aggrieved employees an additional hour of pay at their respective 
regular rates of pay for each workday that they were not authorized and permitted to take a compliant rest 
period. As a result, the Company owes Claimant and other aggrieved employees a rest period premium for 
each workday that Claimant and other aggrieved employees are not authorized and permitted to take a 
compliant rest period. 

Further, Claimant and, on information and belief, other aggrieved employees are not paid all 
minimum, regular, and overtime wages owed for all of the time that they work for the Company or are 
subject to the Company's control because the Company fails to pay them for all of the time they are on­
duty and monitoring their phones during their meal periods. The Company also fails to pay Claimant and, 
on information and belief, other aggrieved employees for all of their overtime wages because the Company 
fails to include the non-discretionary bonus pay in the regular rate of pay for purposes of calculating 
overtime. Thus, Claimant and, on information and belief, other aggrieved employees, are not paid all 
minimum, regular, and overtime wages for all hours worked. 

The Company also failed to pay Claimant and, on information and belief, other aggrieved 
employees reporting time pay. For example, the Company would schedule Claimant and other aggrieved 
employees for on-call shifts. While on-call, Claimant would receive calls from the operational center to 
report to work to complete assignments. On some occasions, when Claimant was on the way to begin 
working the on-call assignment, the Company would call and cancel the assignment. If it had been less than 
approximately 15 minutes from the original call, the Company would not pay Claimant and, on information 
and belief, other aggrieved employees for the time they spent being called into work and beginning to travel 
to the assignment. On the occasions that the Company did compensate Claimant and other aggrieved 
employees for the time spent reporting to work and beginning to travel to the on-call assignment, the 
Company would not pay Claimant and other aggrieved employees for half the usual or scheduled day's 
work, but in no event for less than two (2) hours. 

As a direct result of the Company's illegal policies and procedures, the Company fails to maintain 
accurate records reflecting all of Claimant's and other aggrieved employees' time worked and wages paid, 
in violation of California law. In addition, the wage statements issued by the Company do not include the 
correct total regular and overtime hours worked, the correct amount of gross and net wages earned, and the 
correct applicable hourly rates and the corresponding number of hours worked at each hourly rate, as 
required under Labor Code section 226. 

Lastly, as a direct result of the aforementioned Labor Code violations, the Company does not pay 
Claimant and, on information and belief, other aggrieved employees all wages due and payable during and 
upon separation of employment, including minimum, regular, and overtime wages for all hours worked, 
and meal and rest period premium wages, as required pursuant to Labor Code sections 20 I, 202 and 204. 

Due to the foregoing Labor Code violations, the Company denies Claimant and other aggrieved 
employees certain rights afforded them under the California Labor Code and IWC Wage Orders. Claimant 
makes these claims against the Company on behalf of himself and all other aggrieved current and former 
employees of the Company in California. 
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FAILURE TO PROVIDE COMPLIANT MEAL PERIODS AND 
AUTHORIZE AND PERMIT REST PERIODS 

(Labor Code sections 226.7, 512,558, 1198, and the "Meal Periods" and "Rest Periods" 
sections of the Applicable IWC Wage Order) 

APC 

Labor Code section 226.7(b) states, "[a]n employer shall not require an employee to work during 
a meal or rest ... period mandated pursuant to an applicable statute, or applicable regulation, standard, or 
order of the Industrial Welfare Commission ... " Labor Code section 226.7(c) states, "[i]f an employer fails 
to provide an employee a meal or rest ... period in accordance with a state law ... the employer shall pay 
the employee one additional hour of pay at the employee's regular rate of compensation for each workday 
that the meal or rest ... period is not provided." 

Labor Code section 512(a) states, "[a]n employer may not employ an employee for a work period 
of more than five hours per day without providing the employee with a meal period of not less than 30 
minutes" and "[a]n employer may not employ an employee for a work period of more than IO hours per 
day without providing the employee with a second meal period of not less than 30 minutes." 

The "Meal Periods" section of the applicable IWC Wage Order states, "[n]o employer shall employ 
any person for a work period of more than five (5) hours without a meal period ofnot less than 30 minutes, 
except that when a work period of not more than six (6) hours will complete the day's work the meal period 
may be waived by mutual consent of the employer and the employee." It further states, "[i]f an employer 
fails to provide an employee a meal period in accordance with the applicable provisions of this order, the 
employer shall pay the employee one (1) hour of pay at the employee's regular rate of compensation for 
each workday that the meal period is not provided." 

The "Meal Periods" section of the applicable IWC Wage Order also states, "[u]nless the employee 
is relieved of all duty during a 30 minute meal period, the meal period shall be considered an 'on duty' meal 
period and counted as time worked. An 'on duty' meal period shall be permitted only when the nature of 
the work prevents an employee from being relieved of all duty and when by written agreement between the 
parties an on-the-job meal period is agreed to. The written agreement shall state that the employee may, in 
writing, revoke the agreement at any time." 

The "Rest Periods" section of the applicable IWC Wage Order states, "[e]very employer shall 
authorize and permit employees to take rest periods, which insofar as practicable shall be in the middle of 
each work period. The authorized rest period time shall be based on the total hours worked daily at the rate 
often (10) minutes net rest time for every four (4) hours worked, or major fraction thereof." Furthermore, 
"[i]f an employer fails to provide an employee a rest period in accordance with the applicable provisions of 
this order, the employer shall pay the employee one (I) hour of pay at the employee's regular rate of 
compensation for each workday that the rest period is not provided." 

Labor Code section 1198 states, "[t]he maximum hours of work and the standard conditions of 
labor fixed by the commission shall be the maximum hours of work and the standard conditions of labor 
for employees. The employment of any employee for longer hours than those fixed by the order or under 
conditions of labor prohibited by the order is unlawful." 
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As set forth above, the Company fails to provide Claimant and, on information and belief, other 
aggrieved employees with the opportunity to take uninterrupted, off-duty meal periods of at least 30-
minutes before the start of their sixth hour of work and does not authorize and permit Claimant and, on 
information and belief, other aggrieved employees to take legally compliant rest periods, as required by 
California law. The Company fails to pay Claimant and, on information and belief, other aggrieved 
employees one-hour of premium wages for each day a compliant meal period is not provided and one-hour 
of premium wages for each day a compliant rest period is not authorized or permitted. Claimant will pursue 
all available remedies for the Company's violations on behalf of himself and other aggrieved current and 
former employees to the extent allowed by law. 

FAILURE TO PAY MINIMUM, REGULAR, AND OVERTIME WAGES 
(Labor Code sections 223,225.5, 510,558, 1194, 1194.2, 1197, 1197.1, 1198, the "Minimum Wages," 

"Rest Periods," "Meal Periods," and "Hours and Days of Work" sections of the 
Applicable IWC Wage Order) 

Labor Code section 1197 states, "[t]he minimum wage for employees fixed by the commission is 
the minimum wage to be paid to employees, and the payment of a less wage than the minimum so fixed is 
unlawful." Labor Code section 1197.1 provides that, "Any employer or other person acting either 
individually or as an officer, agent, or employee of another person, who pays or causes to be paid to any 
employee a wage less than the minimum fixed by an applicable state or local law or by an order of the 
commission shall be subject to a civil penalty, restitution of wages, liquidated damages payable to the 
employee, and any applicable penalties imposed pursuant to Section 203 ... " Section 1198 states, "[t]he 
maximum hours of work and the standard conditions of labor fixed by the commission shall be the 
maximum hours of work and the standard conditions of labor for employees. The employment of any 
employee for longer hours than those fixed by the order or under conditions oflabor prohibited by the order 
is unlawful." 

Labor Code section 510 states, "[e]ight hours oflabor constitutes a day's work. Any work in excess 
of eight hours in one workday and any work in excess of 40 hours in any one workweek and the first eight 
hours worked on the seventh day of work in any one workweek shall be compensated at the rate ofno less 
than one and one-halftimes the regular rate of pay for an employee. Any work in excess of 12 hours in one 
day shall be compensated at the rate of no less than twice the regular rate of pay for an employee. In addition, 
any work in excess of eight hours on any seventh day of a workweek shall be compensated at the rate of no 
less than twice the regular rate of pay of an employee." The "Hours and Days of Work" and "Minimum 
Wages" sections of the applicable IWC Wage Order mandate the same requirements. 

Labor Code section 1194(a) states, " ... any employee receiving less than the legal minimum wage 
or the legal overtime compensation applicable to the employee is entitled to recover in a civil action the 
unpaid balance of the full amount of this minimum wage or overtime compensation, including interest 
thereon, reasonable attorney's fees, and costs of suit." Liquidated damages in an amount equal to the 
minimum wages unlawfully unpaid and interest thereon are provided for under Labor Code section 1194.2. 
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Labor Code section 223 states, "[w]here any statute or contract requires an employer to maintain 
the designated wage scale, it shall be unlawful to secretly pay a lower wage while purporting to pay the 
wage designated by statute or by contract." Labor Code section 225.5 provides that, " ... every person who 
unlawfully withholds wages due any employee in violation of Section ... 223 shall be subject to a civil 
penalty" of $100 for each initial violation and $200 plus 25% of the amount unlawfully withheld for a 
subsequent violation. 

As set forth above, the Company fails to pay Claimant and, on information and belief, other 
aggrieved employees all minimum, regular, and overtime wages, as required by law. Claimant will pursue 
all available remedies for the Company's violations on behalf of himself and other aggrieved current and 
former employees to the extent allowed by law. 

FAILURE TO PAY REPORTING TIME PAY 
(Labor Code section 558 and the "Reporting Time Pay" section of the Applicable IWC Wage Order) 

The "Reporting Time Pay" section of the applicable IWC Wage Order states, "[e]ach workday an 
employee is required to report for work and does report, but is not put to work or is furnished less than half 
said employee's usual or scheduled day's work, the employee shall be paid for half the usual or scheduled 
day's work, but in no event for less than two (2) hours nor more than four (4) hours, at the employee's 
regular rate of pay, which shall not be less than the minimum wage." 

Labor Code section 558 states, "[a]ny employer or other person acting on behalf of an employer 
who violates, or causes to be violated ... any provision regulating hours and days of work in any order of 
the Industrial Welfare Commission shall be subject to a civil penalty .... " 

As set forth above, the Company fails to pay Claimant and other aggrieved employees reporting 
time pay. Claimant will pursue all available remedies for the Company's violations on behalf of himself 
and other aggrieved current and former employees to the extent allowed by law. 

FAILURE TO MAINTAIN ACCURATE RECORDS 
(Labor Code sections 1174, 1174.5, 1198,and the "Records" section of the Applicable IWC Wage Order) 

Labor Code section 1174 states, "[e]very person employing labor in this state shall... [k]eep, at a 
central location in the state or at the plants or establishments at which employees are employed, payroll 
records showing the hours worked daily by and the wages paid to, ... , employees employed at the respective 
plants or establishments." 

The "Records" section of the applicable IWC Wage Order states that every employer shall keep 
accurate information with respect to each one of its employees, including time records showing when the 
employee begins and ends each work period and meal period, total hours worked in the payroll period and 
applicable rates of pay, and total wages paid each payroll period. 
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Labor Code section 1174.5 imposes a civil penalty of $500 for an employer's failure to maintain 
accurate and complete records. This civil penalty is in addition to the civil penalty of$100 per pay period, 
per aggrieved employee that would be imposed pursuant to Labor Code section 2699 for a violation of 
Labor Code section I 174(d). 

As set forth above, the Company violates these requirements by failing to accurately record 
employee hours worked including, but not limited to, the Company's failure to record the proper beginning 
and end of each work period, the meal periods, and the total hours worked during the pay period. Claimant 
will pursue all available remedies for the Company's violations on behalf of himself and other aggrieved 
current and former employees to the extent allowed by law. 

FAILURE TO PROVIDE ACCURATE ITEMIZED WAGE STATEMENTS 
(Labor Code sections 226, 226.3, 248.5, and 1198) 

Labor Code section 226(a) states in pertinent part that every employer shall provide an accurate, 
itemized wage statement in writing with respect to each ofits employees showing: "(I) gross wages earned, 
(2) total hours worked by the employee, ... , (5) net wages earned, ... , and (9) all applicable hourly rates in 
effect during the pay period and the corresponding number of hours worked at each hourly rate by the 
employee." 

Labor Code section 226( e) imposes a penalty of the greater of all actual damages or $50 for the 
initial pay period in which a violation occurs and $100 per employee for each violation in a subsequent pay 
period, not exceeding an aggregate penalty of $4,000, and entitles an employee to an award of costs and 
reasonable attorney's fees. Labor Code section 226.3 imposes an additional civil penalty on the employer 
of $250.00 per employee per violation of Labor Code section 226(a) in an initial citation and $1,000 per 
employee for each violation in a subsequent citation. 

The Company fails to provide Claimant and, on information and belief, other aggrieved employees 
with accurate itemized wage statements that comply with the requirements of the Labor Code because the 
wage statements issued do not include the correct total regular hours worked, the correct amount of gross 
and net wages earned, the correct overtime hours worked, and all applicable hourly rates and the 
corresponding number of hours worked at each hourly rate, as required under Labor Code section 226. 
Claimant will pursue all available remedies for the Company's violations on behalf of himself and other 
aggrieved employees to the extent allowed by law. 

FAILURE TO TIMELY PAY ALL WAGES DUE 
(Labor Code sections 201,202,203,204,210, 1194, 1194.2, 1198, and the 

"Minimum Wages" section of the Applicable IWC Wage Order) 

Labor Code section 204(a) states in pertinent part, "[a]ll wages ... earned by any person in any 
employment are due and payable twice during each calendar month, on days designated in advance by the 
employer as the regular paydays." Furthermore, Labor Code section 204(b)(I) states, "all wages earned for 
labor in excess of the normal work period shall be paid no later than the payday for the next regular payroll 
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period." The requirements of Labor Code section 204 are "deemed satisfied by the payment of wages for 
weekly, biweekly, or semimonthly payroll if the wages are paid not more than seven calendar days 
following the close of the payroll period. Labor Code section 204( d). Labor Code section 210 provides 
that, "every person who fails to pay the wages of an employee as provided in Section ... 204 ... shall be 
subject to a civil penalty" of $100 for an initial violation and $200 plus 25% of the amount unlawfully 
withheld for a subsequent violation. The "Minimum Wages" section of the applicable IWC Wage Order 
also states that "[e]very employer shall pay to each employee, on the established payday for the period 
involved, not less than the applicable minimum wage for all hours worked in the payroll period, whether 
the remuneration is measured by time, piece, commission, or otherwise." 

Labor Code section 201 states, in pertinent part, "[i]f an employer discharges an employee, the 
wages earned and unpaid at the time of discharge are due and payable immediately." Labor Code section 
202 states, in pertinent part, "If an employee not having a written contract for a definite period quits his or 
her employment, his or her wages shall become due and payable not later than 72 hours thereafter, unless 
the employee has given 72 hours previous notice of his or her intention to quit, in which case the employee 
is entitled to his or her wages at the time.of quitting." 

Labor Code section 203(a) states, in pertinent part, "[i]f an employer willfully fails to pay, without 
abatement or reduction, in accordance with Sections 201, 201.3, 201.5, 201.9, 202, and 205.5, any wages 
of an employee who is discharged or who quits, the wages of the employee shall continue as a penalty from 
the due date thereof at the same rate until paid or until an action therefore is commenced; but the wages 
shall not continue for more than 30 days." 

As set forth above, the Company has violated this Labor Code section by not paying to Claimant 
and, on information and belief, other aggrieved employees all minimum, regular, and overtime wages, as 
well as meal and rest period premium wages, within the required time during and upon separation of their 
employment. As a result of the Company's failure to comply with the aforementioned Labor Code 
provisions, the Company owes waiting time penalties to Claimant and, on information and belief, other 
aggrieved employees, which they have not yet paid. Claimant will pursue all available remedies for the 
Company's violations on behalf of himself and other aggrieved current and former employees to the extent 
allowed by law. 

CIVIL PENALTIES FOR VIOLATION OF THE LABOR CODE AND IWC WAGE ORDERS 
(Labor Code sections 558,558.1, and 1197.1) 

Labor Code section 558 subjects any employer or any person acting on behalf of an employer who 
violates Part 2, Chapter I, of the Labor Code (Labor Code§§ 500-558.1) or any provision regulating the 
hours and days of work in any IWC Wage Order to a civil penalty as follows: "[f]or any initial violation, 
fifty dollars ($50) for each underpaid employee for each pay period for which the employee was underpaid 
in addition to an amount sufficient to recover underpaid wages. For each subsequent violation, one hundred 
dollars ($100) for each underpaid employee for each pay period for which the employee was underpaid in 
addition to an amount sufficient to recover underpaid wages." 
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Labor Code section 558.l(a) states, "[a]ny employer or other person acting on behalf of an 
employer, who violates, or causes to be violated, any provision regulating minimum wage or hours and 
days of work in any order of the Industrial Welfare Commission, or violates, or causes to be violated, 
Sections 203,226,226.7, 1193.6, 1194, or 2802, may be held liable as the employer for such violation." 
This includes the owners, officers, directors, or managing agents of the employer. Labor Code section 
558.l(b). 

Similarly, Labor Code section 1197.1 subjects any employer or other person acting either 
individually or as an officer, agent, or employee of another person, who pays or causes to be paid to any 
employee a wage less than the minimum fixed by an applicable state or local law, or by an order of the 
commission to a civil penalty, restitution of wages, liquidated damages payable to the employee, and any 
applicable penalties imposed pursuant to Section 203 as follows: "(1) For any initial violation that is 
intentionally committed, one hundred dollars ($100) for each underpaid employee for each pay period for 
which the employee is underpaid. This amount shall be in addition to an amount sufficient to recover 
underpaid wages, liquidated damages pursuant to Section 1194.2, and any applicable penalties imposed 
pursuant to Section 203. (2) For each subsequent violation for the same specific offense, two hundred fifty 
dollars ($250) for each underpaid employee for each pay period for which the employee is underpaid 
regardless of whether the initial violation is intentionally committed. This amount shall be in addition to 
an amount sufficient to recover underpaid wages, liquidated damages pursuant to Section 1194.2, and any 
applicable penalties imposed pursuant to Section 203. (3) Wages, liquidated damages, and any applicable 
penalties imposed pursuant to Section 203, recovered pursuant to this section shall be paid to the affected 
employee." 

As set forth above, the Company has underpaid Claimant and, on information and belief, aggrieved 
employees and violated the Labor Code and the applicable IWC Wage Order by failing to pay them all 
regular, minimum, and overtime wages and meal and rest period premium wages, as required under Labor 
Code sections 203,226,226.7, 510,512, 1194, 1197, 1198, and the applicable sections ofthe applicable 
IWC Wage Order. As a result, the Company is liable for civil penalties under Labor Code sections 558, 
558.1, and 1197.1. Claimant will pursue all available remedies for the Company's violations on behalf of 
himself and other aggrieved current and former employees to the extent allowed by law. 

ATTORNEY'S FEES, COSTS, INTEREST, LIQUIDATED DAMAGES, AND PENALTIES 
(Labor Code sections 210,218.5, 218.6, 225.5, 226(e),558, 1194, 1194.2, 1197.1, and 2699, et seq.) 

Labor Code sections 210,218.5, 218.6, 225.5, 226(e), 558, 1194, 1194.2, 1197.1, and 2699, et seq., 
among others, give employees the right to recover in a civil action the unpaid balance of the full amount of 
minimum wages, regular wages, overtime compensation, damages, liquidated damages and penalties, 
including interest thereon, as well as reasonable attorney's fees and costs. 

Pursuant to Labor Code section 2699, et seq., an aggrieved employee is entitled to 25% of the 
penalty assessment, which is $100 for the first violation and $200 for each subsequent violation, and 100% 
of the underpaid wages. Accordingly, the Company is liable for these items in addition to the unpaid wages. 
Claimant has already incurred actual damages, costs and attorney's fees and they will continue to incur 
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costs as a result of the Company's unlawful actions. Claimant will pursue all available remedies, including 
those provided by PAGA, for these violations on behalf of himself and other aggrieved employees. 

CONCLUSION 

The facts and claims contained herein are based on the information available at the time of this 
writing. Therefore, if through discovery and/or expert review, Claimant becomes aware of additional 
compensation owed to him or other losses incurred by him or by any other aggrieved employee of the 
Company, he reserves the right to revise these facts and/or add any new claims by amending the claim letter 
or by adding applicable causes of action in his complaint. 

Very truly yours, 

Kathryn Evans 
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From: 
To: 
Subject: 
Date: 

6/27/2019 

noreply@salesforce.com on behalf of LWDA DO NOT REPLY 
Amy Bevan 
Thank you for submission of your PAGA Case. 
Thursday, June 27, 2019 10:40:13 AM 

LWDA Case No. LWDA-CM-711597-19 

Item submitted: Initial PAGA Notice 

Thank you for your submission to the Labor and Workforce Development Agency. Please make a note of the 
L WDA Case No. above as you may need this number for future reference when filing any subsequent documents for 
this Case. 

If you have questions or concerns regarding this submission or your case, please send an email to 
pagainfo@dir.ca.gov. 

DIR PAGA Unit on behalfof 
Labor and Workforce Development Agency 

Website: http://labor.ca.gov/Private Attorneys General Act.htm 
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1 THOMPSON COBURN LLP 
ARTHUR F. SILBERGELD, CSB 81093 

2 asilbergeld@thompsoncoburn.com 
GEOFFREY L. WARNER, CSB 305647 

3 gwarner@thompsoncoburn.com 
2029 Century Park East, Suite 1900 

4 Los Angeles, California 90067 
Tel: 310.282.2500 / Fax: 310.282.2501 

5 
Attorneys for Defendant 

6 CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS, INC. 

7 

8 

9 

10 

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO 

11 DEVENAN MAHARAJ, individually and on 
behalf of all similarly situated employees and 

12 aggrieved of Defendants in the State of 
California, 

13 

14 

15 
v. 

Plaintiff, 

CASE NO. 37-2019-00058788-CU-OE­
CTL 
Assigned for all purposes to the Honorable 
Richard S; Whitney, Dept. C-68 

DEFENDANT CHARTER 
COMMUNICATIONS, INC. 'S ANSWER 
TO COMPLAINT 

CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS, INC.; and 
16 DOES 1 through 50, inclusive, Action Filed: November 5, 2019 

17 

18 

19 

Defendants. 
Trial Date: None Set 

Defendant Charter Communications, Inc. ("Defendant"), by and through its undersigned 

counsel, answers the Complaint filed by plaintiff Devenan Maharaj ("Plaintiff') in this matter as 
20 

21 

22 

23 

follows: 

GENERAL DENIAL 

Pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 431.30, Defendant generally and specifically 

denies (i) each and every allegation of Plaintiffs Complaint, (ii) that Plaintiff and/or the alleged 
24 

putative class members and/or allegedly aggrieved employees have been damaged/injured/harmed, 
25 

in any way whatsoever, (iii) that Plaintiff and/or the alleged putative class members and or allegedly 
26 

aggrieved employees are entitled to any legal, injunctive, equitable, or other relief in any amount or 
27 

manner whatsoever from Defendant, and (iv) that Plaintiff and/or the alleged putative class members 
28 

DEFENDANT CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS, INC.'S ANSWER TO COMPLAINT 
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1 and/or allegedly aggrieved employees sustained injury, damage, detriment, harm, or loss by reason 

2 of any conduct, action, error, or omission on the part of Defendant or any agent, employee, or other 

3 person acting under Defendant's authority or control. This general and specific denial of the 

4 Complaint is filed without prejudice to Defendant's right to file amended answers, including 

5 additional defenses. 

6 

7 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

In addition, as separate and additional defenses to the Complaint, and without waiving or 

8 admitting that Defendant has any burden of proof or releasing Plaintiff from any burden of proof, 

9 Defendant asserts the following affirmative defenses: 

10 

11 

12 

FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Failure to State a Claim) 

The allegations contained in the Complaint, or any purported cause of action therein, fail to 

13 state any claim upon which relief can be granted. 

14 

15 

16 

SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Binding Arbitration) 

Plaintiffs Complaint and all of the claims therein, and this action, are subject to binding 

17 arbitration, pursuant to Plaintiffs agreements to arbitrate all disputes arising from or related to his 

18 employment with Defendant. 

19 

20 

21 

THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Failure to Perform Conditions Necessary) 

Plaintiff has failed to meet his burden inasmuch as he has failed to perform the conditions 

22 necessary to give rise to any obligation on the part of Defendant for the payment of compensation 

23 or wages alleged in the Complaint, including, but not limited to, failing to perform conditions 

24 necessary for receipt of compensation or wages and failure to complain or otherwise alert 

25 Defendant of any purported violation. 

26 

27 

28 
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1 

2 

3 

FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Failure to Mitigate Damages) 

Plaintiff failed to take reasonable steps and to exercise due diligence in an effort to 

4 minimize or mitigate the alleged damages, if any. 

5 

6 

7 

FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Restriction on Duplicative Penalties/Damages) 

Plaintiff has failed to meet his burden of alleging and/or recovering penalties, and may not 

8 recover duplicative penalties and/or duplicative damages. 

9 

10 

11 

SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Failure to Take Breaks Provided Under the Law) 

As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendant alleges that Plaintiff and/or 

12 members of the putative class Plaintiff purports to represent has no right to a premium payment 

13 under California Labor Code section 226. 7 because, to the extent, if any, that person did not take 

14 breaks, it was because he/she: (1) failed to take breaks that were provided to him/her in 

15 compliance with California law; (2) chose not to take rest breaks that were authorized and 

16 permitted; or (3) waived his/her right to meal breaks under California Labor Code section 512(a). 

17 

18 

19 

SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(No Recovery for Non-Compensable Time) 

Plaintiff has failed to meet his burden inasmuch as Plaintiffs claims are precluded to the 

20 extent that part or all of the time for which pay is claimed is not compensable time, and to the 

21 extent that any claimed contractual compensation is not compensable under the relevant 

22 agreement. 

EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Payment of All Monies Owed) 

23 

24 

25 Plaintiff's causes of actions are barred because Plaintiff has been paid all monies and/or 

26 compensation lawfully owed and/or due to him, including, but not limited to, all alleged 

27 contractual compensation, wages, and expense reimbursements due to him in the relevant time 

28 period. 
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1 

2 

3 

NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(No Willful Conduct) 

Defendant did not violate any law willfully or knowingly. A good faith dispute exists as to 

4 whether Defendanfs alleged conduct violated any law, provision, or order. Accordingly, Plaintiff 

5 is not entitled to recover any damages or penalty. 

6 

7 

8 

TENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(No Knowledge of Work) 

Defendant alleges that if either Plaintiff or any putative class member "worked" hours for 

9 which compensation was not paid, Defendant had no knowledge, or reason to know, of such 

10 "work'' and such overtime "work" was undertaken without the consent or permission of 

11 Defendant. 

ELEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Statute of Limitations) 

12 

13 

14 Plaintiff and every person on whose behalf relief is sought have failed to meet their burden 

15 inasmuch as they cannot meet their burden to recover on the Complaint, or any purported cause of 

16 action alleged therein, because it is barred by the applicable statute of limitations, including but 

17 not limited to common law, and California Code of Civil Procedure sections 33 5 through 349 and 

18 1021.5 (including but not limited to sections 338, 340 and 343, including 338(a) and 340(a)) and 

19 Labor Code sections 201-204, 210,216,218.6, 226, 226(a), 226(e), 226(g), 226.3, 226.7, 382, 

20 500-558, 558, 1182.12, 1174, 1194, 1194.2, 1197, 1198, 2698 et seq., Industrial Wage Order No. 

21 4, and Business and Professions Code sections 17200 et seq. 

TWELFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Res Judicata, Bar, and Merger) 

22 

23 

24 The Complaint and each purported cause of action therein are barred by the doctrine of res 

25 judicata. 

26 

27 

28 
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1 

2 

3 

THIRTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Estoppel) 

Plaintiff has failed to meet his burden inasmuch as any recovery on the Complaint, or on 

4 any purported cause of action alleged therein, is barred in that Plaintiff is estopped by his conduct 

5 to claim any right to damages or relief against Defendant. 

6 

7 

8 

FOURTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Waiver) 

Plaintiff has failed to meet his burden inasmuch as any recovery on the Complaint, or on 

9 any purported cause of action alleged therein, is barred by the doctrine of waiver. 

10 

11 

12 

FIFTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Laches) 

Plaintiff has failed to meet his burden inasmuch as any recovery on the Complaint, or on 

13 any purported cause of action alleged therein, is barred by the doctrine oflaches. 

14 

15 

16 

SIXTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Unclean Hands) 

Plaintiff has failed to meet his burden inasmuch as any recovery on the Complaint, or on 

17 any purported cause of action alleged therein, is barred by the doctrine of unclean hands. 

18 

19 

20 

SEVENTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Uncertainty) 

Plaintiff has failed to meet his burden inasmuch as the Complaint is barred in whole or in 

21 part because it cannot be ascertained from the Complaint the basis of any of the allegations stated 

22 therein, including but not limited to insufficient facts being alleged to support any underlying 

23 Labor Code violation or other violation. 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

EIGHTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Lack of Standing) 

Plaintiff lacks standing to bring this action for the penalties sought in the Complaint. 
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1 

2 

3 

NINETEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Adequate Remedy at Law) 

Plaintiff has failed to meet his burden inasmuch as Plaintiff is not entitled to a recovery of 

4 equitable relief because of the existence of an adequate remedy at law for the allegations in the 

5 Complaint and/or because equitable relief is neither necessary nor proper. 

6 

7 

8 

TWENTIETH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Safe Harbor) 

Plaintiffs claims under Business and Professions Code section 17200, et seq., are barred 

9 because the conduct alleged in the Complaint falls within a recognized safe harbor. 

10 

11 

12 

TWENTY-FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Business Necessity) 

Defendant made any and all employment decisions concerning Plaintiff based on business 

13 necessity and job-related reasons. 

14 

15 

16 

TWENTY-SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Reasonableness and Good Faith) 

Plaintiff has failed to meet his burden inasmuch as this action is barred, in whole or in part, 

17 because Defendant's actions were based on an honest, reasonable, good faith beliefin the facts as 

18 known and understood at the time and were not intentional or willful, including not being willful 

19 within the meaning of the California Labor Code, and Plaintiff did not suffer injuries or damages 

20 and is not entitled to damages or penalties. 

21 

22 

23 

TWENTY-THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Substantial Compliance with Laws) 

Defendant is not liable to Plaintiff because Defendant acted reasonably and with due care 

24 and substantially complied with all applicable statutes, regulations, and/or other laws, and further 

25 was privileged in its actions. 

26 

27 

28 
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1 

2 

3 

TWENTY-FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(After-Acquired Evidence) 

If Plaintiff suffered any loss, damage or detriment as result of the facts alleged in the 

4 Complaint, which Defendant denies, such loss, damages or detriment is limited or barred by the 

5 existence of evidence acquired after Plaintiff's alleged employment that bars or limits the remedial 

6 relief to which Plaintiff may have been entitled in the absence of such after-acquired evidence. 

7 

8 

9 

TWENTY-FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Consent) 

The alleged conduct of Defendant complained of in the Complaint was approved, 

10 consented to, authorized, and/or ratified by Plaintiff through his actions, omissions and course of 

11 conduct; accordingly, the Complaint and each purported cause of action therein are barred. 

12 

13 

14 

TWENTY-SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(De Minim is) 

As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendant alleges that claims are barred, or 

15 damages and/or penalties must be reduced, for some or all of the putative class members because 

16 they worked for de minimis and/or insignificant periods of time, under the doctrine of de minimis 

17 non curat lex. 

18 

19 

20 

TWENTY-SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(No Performance Owed by Defendants) 

Defendant alleges, without admitting to the existence of any duties or obligations as 

21 alleged in the Complaint, that any duty or obligation, contractual or otherwise, which Plaintiff 

22 claims is owed by Defendant, has been fully performed, satisfied, or discharged. 

23 

24 

25 

TWENTY-EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Defendant Not Liable for Punitive Damages) 

Defendant is not liable for punitive damages herein because neither Defendant nor any of 

26 its officers, directors, or managing agents committed any alleged oppressive, fraudulent or 

27 malicious acts, authorized or ratified such an act, had advance knowledge of the unfitness, if any, 

28 of the employee or employees, if any, who allegedly committed such acts, or employed any such 
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1 employee or employees with a conscious disregard of the rights or safety of others as required by 

2 California Civil Code section 3294(b). 

3 

4 

5 

TWENTY-NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Protection from Excessive Fines) 

Plaintiff's Complaint, to the extent that it seeks punitive or exemplary damages, violates 

6 the rights of Defendant to protection from "excessive fines" as provided in the Eighth Amendment 

7 of the United States Constitution and in Article I, Section 17 of the Constitution of the State of 

8 California, and, therefore, fails to state a cause of action on which punitive or exemplary damages 

9 may be awarded. 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

THIRTIETH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(No Attorneys' Fees or Costs) 

The Complaint fails to state facts sufficient to support an award of attorneys' fees or costs. 

THIRTY-FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Proportional Allocation of Fault) 

Any damage, loss or liability sustained by Plaintiff must be reduced, diminished, and/or 

16 barred in proportion to the wrongful or negligent conduct of persons or entities other than 

17 Defendant, including other parties in this case and/or third parties, under the principles of 

18 equitable allocation, recoupment, set-off, proportionate responsibility, and/or comparative fault. 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

THIRTY-SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(De Minimis Harm) 

The contribution of Defendant to Plaintiffs alleged harm, if any, was de minim is. 

THIRTY-THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Several Liability for Non-Economic Damages) 

Plaintiff's damages, if any, constitute non-economic damages pursuant to California Code 

25 § 1431.2, such that Defendant's liability, if any, is limited to the amount of Plaintiffs damages 

26 allocated to Defendant in direct proportion to Defendant's percentage of fault. 

27 

28 

8 
DEFENDANT CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS, INC.'S ANSWER TO COMPLAINT 

Case 3:20-cv-00064-JLS-AHG   Document 1-2   Filed 01/08/20   PageID.83   Page 63 of 70



1 

2 

3 

THIRTY-FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Conduct Not Unlawful) 

As a separate and distinct affirmative defense, Defendant alleges that its business practices 

4 were not "unfair," "unlawful," or "deceptive" within the meaning of California Business and 

5 Professions Code section 17200 et seq. 

6 

7 

8 

THIRTY-FIFTHAFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(No Tangible Loss of Benefits) 

The Complaint and each purported cause of action therein is barred because Defendant 

9 properly provided meal periods, rest breaks, and all compensation due upon separation of 

10 employment to Plaintiff. 

11 

12 

13 

THIRTY-SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Authorization of Law) 

The allegations contained in the Complaint, or any purported cause of action therein, are 

14 barred because any acts or omissions of Defendant was at all times legal and authorized by law. 

15 

16 

17 

THIRTY-SEVENTHAFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Offset) 

Plaintiff and every person on whose behalf relief is sought have failed to meet their burden, 

18 inasmuch as Defendant alleges that certain amounts sought to be recovered in this action are 

19 subject to an offset and/or set-off and/or recoupment and, therefore, barred in whole or in part. 

20 

21 

22 

THIRTY-EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(No PAGA Penalties) 

Plaintiff and every person on whose behalf relief is sought have failed to meet their burden, 

23 inasmuch as no civil penalty under the Labor Code Private Attorneys General Act of 2004 should 

24 be awarded because such an award would be unjust, arbitrary and oppressive, or confiscatory 

25 based on the facts and circumstances of this case. 

26 

27 

28 

THIRTY-NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(No Damages or Injury) 

Plaintiff and every person on whose behalf relief is sought have failed to meet their burden 
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1 inasmuch as the Complaint is barred in whole or in part because neither Plaintiff nor any person 

2 on whose behalf relief is sought have suffered any damage or injury by any acts, events or 

3 occurrences alleged in the Complaint, whether or not attributable to Defendant. 

4 

5 

6 

FORTIETH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Failure to Comply with Directions) 

Plaintiff and every person on whose behalf relief is sought have failed to meet their burden 

7 inasmuch as they cannot meet their burden to recover on the Complaint, or any purported cause of 

8 action alleged therein, because they were required to substantially comply with directions and 

9 policies concerning the work in which Plaintiff and every person on whose behalf relief is sought 

10 were engaged and they failed to substantially comply with such directions and policies, even 

11 though such compliance was possible, lawful, and not unreasonably burdensome, thereby 

12 violating Section 2856 of the California Labor Code. 

13 

14 

15 

FORTY-FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Accord and Satisfaction) 

Plaintiff and every person on whose behalf relief is sought have failed to meet their burden 

16 inasmuch as their claims are barred in whole or in part by the doctrine of accord and satisfaction, 

17 and payment. 

18 

19 

20 

FORTY-SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Release) 

Plaintiff and every person on whose behalf relief is sought have failed to meet their burden 

21 inasmuch as any recovery on the Complaint, or any purported cause of action alleged therein, is 

22 barred by the doctrine of release of claims, including release of claims asserted in the Complaint. 

23 

24 

25 

FORTY-THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Insufficient to Proceed as Class, Collective, or Representative Action) 

Plaintiff and every person on whose behalf relief is sought have failed to meet their burden 

26 of alleging, and cannot prove, Labor Code violations and/or damages with respect to each and 

27 every individual on whose behalf Plaintiff seeks to recover penalties. The Complaint is 

28 unmanageable as a collective or representative action and may not be certified as a class action, 
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1 requires highly individualized inquiries, lacks due process, cannot and should not be permitted to 

2 proceed based on purported common evidence, lacks fair notice as to the scope (including scope of 

3 violations and alleged aggrieved employees), lacks core elements to proceed as a representative 

4 action (including but not limited to numerosity, typicality, ascertainability, predominance, 

5 superiority) and generally cannot proceed as a class, collective, or representative action. 

6 Additionally, the claims asserted by Plaintiff are not representative of any claims of any other 

7 person or persons employed by Defendant. Furthermore, Plaintiff is not an adequate 

8 representative for the other persons on whose behalf relief is sought and those persons are not 

9 similarly situated to him for the purposes of recovery in this action. 

10 

11 

12 

FORTY-FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Waiting Time Penalties) 

The Complaint, and each and every alleged cause of action therein, or some of them, 

13 cannot be maintained against Defendant to the extent that Plaintiff and some, or all, of the putative 

14 class members he seeks to represent refused payment fully tendered to him or her by Defendant, 

15 thereby relieving Defendant of liability for waiting time penalties under the Labor Code, including 

16 but not limited to section 203. 

17 

18 

19 

FORTY-FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Reservation of Rights) 

Defendant reserves the right to raise additional affirmative defenses to which they may be 

20 entitled or which may be developed in the course of discovery. 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

WHEREFORE, Defendant prays for judgment as follows: 

1. 

2. 

That Plaintiff takes nothing by reason of his Complaint; 

For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

DATED: January 7, 2020 Respectfully Submitted, 

THOMPSON URNLLP 

By: 

ARTH RF. SILBERGEL 
GEOFFREYL. WARNER 
Attorneys for Defendant, 
CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS INC. 
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PROOF OF SERVICE 1 

2 

3 

4 

Maharaj v. Charter Communications Inc. 
Case No. 37-2019-00058788-CU-OE-CTL 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 

At the time of service, I was over 18 years of age and not a party to this action. I am 
5 employed in the County of Los Angeles, State of California. My business address is 2029 Century 

Park East, 19th Floor, Los Angeles, CA 90067. 
6 

On January 7, 2020, I served true copies of the following document(s) described as 
7 DEFENDANT CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS, INC.'S ANSWER TO COMPLAINT on 

the interested parties in this action as follows: 
8 

Grahamhollis APC 
9 Graham S.P. Hollis 

Vilmarie Cordero 
10 David S. Lin 

3555 Fifth Avenue, Suite 200 
11 San Diego, CA 92103 

Telephone: (619) 692-0800 
12 Facsimile: (619) 692-0822 

Email: ghollis@gramahhollis.com 
13 vcordero@grahamhollis.com 

14 

15 

dlin@grahamhollis.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 

16 BY MAIL: I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package addressed to the 
persons at the addresses listed in the Service List and placed the envelope for collection and 

17 mailing, following our ordinary business practices. I am readily familiar with the practice of 
Thompson Coburn LLP for collecting and processing correspondence for mailing. On the same 

18 day that correspondence is placed for collection and mailing, it is deposited in the ordinary course 
of business with the United States Postal Service, in a sealed envelope with postage fully prepaid. 

19 I am a resident or employed in the county where the mailing occurred. The envelope was placed 
in the mail at Los Angeles, California. 

20 
I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the 

21 foregoing is true and correct. 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Executed on January 7, 2020, at Los Angeles, California. 

Dana Hass 
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1 PROOF OF SERVICE 

2 STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES 

3 At the time of service, I was over 18 years of age and not a patiy to this 
action. I am employed in the County of Los Angeles, State of California. My 

4 business address is 2029 Century Park East, 19tli Floor, Los Angeles, CA 90067. 

5 On Januanr 8, 2020, I served true ccmies of the following document(s) 
described as NOTICE TO FEDERAL COURT OF REMOVAL OF CIVlL 

6 ACTION UNDER 28 U.S.C. §§1441(A) & (B) on the interested parties in this action 
as follows: 

7 

8 
SEE ATTACHED SERVICE LIST 

BY MAIL: I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package 
9 addressed to the persons at the addresses listed in the Service List and placed the 

envelope for colfection and mailing, following our ordina.n, business practices. I am 
1 O readily familiar with the practice of Tho111pson Coburn LLP for collecting and 

processing correspondence for mailing. On the same day that correspondence is 
11 placed for collect10n and mailing, it is deposited in the ordinary course of business 

with the United States Postal Service in a sealed envelope with postage fully 
12 prepaid. I am a resident or emP.loyed in the county where the mailing occurred. The 

envelope was placed in the mail at Los Angeles, California. 
13 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of 
14 America that the foregoing is true and correct and that I am emP.loyed in the office 

of a member of the bar of this Court at whose direction the service was made. 
15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Executed on January 8, 2020, at Los Angeles, California. 

Isl Dana Hass 
Dana Hass 
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1 

2 

3 Grahamhollis APC 
Graham S.P. Hollis 

4 Vilmarie Cordero 
David S. Lin 

5 3555 Fifth Avenue, Suite 200 
San Diego, CA 92103 

SERVICE LIST 

Att01neys for Plaintiff 

6 Telephone: g619 692-0800 
Facsimile: 619 692-0822 

7 Email: ho is ramahhollis.com 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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